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Continuing
Group* operations§

2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenue £580.6m £537.8m £491.2m £461.0m

Profit before tax* £15.5m £10.7m £12.9m £8.5m

Profit before tax £4.1m (£12.1m) £1.6m (£14.2m)

Operating profit margin* 4.3% 3.9% 4.6% 4.1%

Earnings/(loss) per share 0.23p (0.29p) 0.15p (0.36p)

Earnings/(loss) per share‡ 4.5p (5.7p) 2.9p (7.1p)

Core bank debt† £120.2m £131.8m

Overall net debt £225.2m £230.7m

* Before exceptional items

† Overall net debt excluding the securitisation facility

‡ Restated for the effect of the 20:1 share consolidation on 9 April 2013

§ Continuing operations, following disposal of Healthcare division completed on 19 April 2013

Financial Highlights
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Kleeneze, on the other hand, has declined in sales and profits
during the year. We have recently made a number of senior
management changes within the business and have developed
a revised plan to restore appropriate levels of profitability within
the business going forwards.

Although still loss-making, Kitbag has made a substantial
recovery on the prior year as a result of management actions,
leading to strong sales growth together with improvements
in gross margin. The team continues to work to address its
remaining underperforming contracts and to improve further
the underlying strength of the business.

Our Education business has also made great progress with
a recovery in core UK brand sales after periods of substantial
decline. Current sales and margin trends overall are very
encouraging.

During the year, we reviewed the position of our healthcare
business NRS noting that, despite being a market leader
in its sector with growth opportunities for the business, its
requirement for cash and margin investment meant that these
opportunities were best pursued by a new owner. We were
pleased to complete the sale of NRS to LDC on 19 April 2013
for £24m.

We have maintained investment in the group, both in terms of
capital expenditure and in working capital, particularly to support
the increase in customer numbers and sales at Express Gifts.
The latter led to an £18.9m increase in Express Gifts’
receivables book at the seasonal peak before Christmas,
reflecting continuing strong sales. Despite these investments,
the group’s net debt ended the year reduced by £5.5m, with
an improvement in core bank debt∆ offset by an increase in the
borrowings under the securitisation facility as a result of the
increase in the Express Gifts receivables book.

Notwithstanding the on-going difficult economic conditions,
total group revenue grew by 8.0% to £580.6m, with continuing
operations (excluding the Healthcare division) up by 6.5% to
£491.2m. With the exception of Kleeneze, all businesses
contributed to an increase in operating profit with total group*
operating profit 20% higher at £25.1m and operating profit**
from continuing operations 20% ahead at £22.4m. Profit before
tax* for the year was markedly higher through improved
operating profit and tight controls on debt and associated
interest charges. Profit before tax* for the total group grew
by 45% to £15.5m, whilst profit before tax** from continuing
businesses grew by 53% to £12.9m. At the same time core
net debt∆ at the year end has been reduced by £11.6m to
£120.2m (FY12: £131.8m), excluding the benefit of the
Healthcare disposal proceeds received after that date.

The group incurred exceptional restructuring and finance costs,
primarily relating to various internal reorganisation, contract
renegotiations, property restructurings and management
changes undertaken during the year, of £6.7m. In addition, as
previously noted, the group recorded an exceptional charge of
£4.8m at the half-year in respect of potential redress for historic
PPI sales. The redress programme is largely complete and no
further provision in this area is currently anticipated. After taking
account of these exceptional costs the continuing operations
reported a profit before tax of £1.6m (FY12: loss of £14.2m).
This is the first time Findel has reported a profit before tax for
five years.

Our largest business, Express Gifts, has had another strong year
increasing the customer base by 8%, sales by 13.4% and
operating profit* by 15.9%. Our improved offer in terms of
value and range continues to prove attractive to our customers,
and the investments we have made in the business are
beginning to bear fruit.

Chairman’s Statement
I am pleased to report on another year of considerable
progress against our multi-year turnaround plan, with
significant improvement across all our key financial
metrics. We also completed the disposal of our
Healthcare division just after the end of the financial
year, and the proceeds from this transaction will further
reduce group borrowings in the year ahead. Your board
is pleased with this improvement in performance and,
given the momentum building within the group, is
confident of continuing this success.

David Sugden
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Board changes
Our longest serving non-executive director, Mike Hawker, has
decided to retire from the board at the end of the forthcoming
annual general meeting. He has made a valuable contribution to
the group throughout his seven years on the board and I would
like to record the board’s gratitude and offer our best wishes to
Mike for the future.

Employees
The strong upward trajectory in the performance of the
business over the last year could not have been achieved
without the tremendous hard work of our employees. The group
continues to implement a significant level of change and on
behalf of all stakeholders I would like to thank all of our
employees for their contribution and achievements.

Current trading
The group has seen further growth to sales and profits in the
first few weeks of the new financial year, although this is a
relatively quiet period for trading in Express Gifts, Kleeneze and
Kitbag. The Education Supplies business has seen encouraging
early responses to its new catalogues, launched in mid-April.

Outlook
We are very pleased with the progress we have made this year.
Current trading remains encouraging, and despite the continuing
challenges of the external environment we continue to be
confident about the potential within the group. We will continue
to pursue our turnaround plan which is clearly demonstrating
the prospects of improved shareholder value.

David Sugden
Chairman

4 June 2013

* before exceptional items
** before exceptional items and discontinued operations
∆ overall net debt excluding the securitisation facility

‘Your board is pleased with this improvement in performance
and, given the momentum building within the group, is confident
of continuing this success.’
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A strong positive trajectory
The group entered the year with signs of recovery already
showing. Our goal for the year was to build on this by focusing
on our turnaround plans to establish a strong positive upward
trajectory in performance, which we have achieved, with a 20%
growth in total group operating profit* and a 45% growth in
profit* before tax.

Express Gifts has continued to show strong growth and
improved profits. Kitbag has shown a sharp improvement in
performance, although there is much still to do there. Our
Education core brands have returned to growth after many
years of decline. Our Healthcare business maintained its
leadership position, although the recognition that the value
Findel could add to the business was diminishing led to a
successful disposal. Kleeneze’s performance did not meet our
expectations and we have taken action to address this.

Our growth in sales and profits has been achieved whilst
simultaneously reducing our debt, with overall net debt reduced
by £5.5m to £225.2m (FY12: £230.7m) and core bank debt∆

reducing by £11.6m to £120.2m. The Express Gifts receivables
portfolio increased during the year by £13.9m. Without this
growth, core bank debt would have fallen by a further £5.3m.

Overall, this year has been one of significant progress. We aim
to continue that trajectory and, given the scale of the
opportunity we see in the business, we have set ourselves a
goal of achieving 7 – 9% net operating margin for the group,
from 4.6%**, in the medium term and continuing to reduce
core bank debt.

Express Gifts, the largest business in the group, has again
performed strongly. The business has continued to focus on
ensuring strong product value for the customer which has
delivered continued growth in customer numbers, sales and
cash margin. Sales for the year grew by 13.4%, profits* by
15.9%, and customer numbers were up 8% for the calendar
year. Our systems implementation programme remains on
track, and our new behavioural credit scoring system is now
fully implemented, making the anticipated contribution this year.
Bad debt indicators have remained stable, with the bad debt
charge lower at 11.4% of sales versus 12.4% at the end of
March 2012. We are pleased with the start to the current year,
with the business seeing an encouraging level of further growth
in the early weeks of FY14, after adjusting for timing differences
in catalogue launches between the years.

Work continues on improving our range and cost prices. The
changes made last year in our Far East sourcing operation have
borne fruit, and purchases through this source now account for
8.4% of Express Gifts purchasing (up from 6.2%) with further
potential beyond. In addition, our new behavioural scoring
system has improved the information available to us to help
manage credit risk, and in retaining a cautious approach, we
have embarked on a comprehensive re-assessment of our risks,
costs, prices and charges within our financial services area,
with the ultimate aim of having a more flexible and personalised
offering over the coming years. Overall, given strong sales,
customer growth and our cost and sourcing actions we continue
to see significant further profit potential within Express Gifts.

Kleeneze’s performance has been disappointing, with sales
declining 8.4% and operating profits reducing by roughly one-third
as a result of a 10% reduction in active ordering distributors and a
further reduction in the average size of each order. The heavy rain
during the first half of the year undoubtedly contributed to
a higher than anticipated distributor attrition rate, but adverse
conditions also highlighted weaknesses in our offer to distributors.

Chief Executive’s Statement
We have built on the platform for recovery created last
year to establish strong momentum in our turnaround.
Our actions have driven improved operating and
financial performance across the majority of the group,
and have demonstrated the substance of our plans.
Our focus is now on maintaining this momentum in
order to achieve our profit and cash goals over the
coming years.

Roger Siddle
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We have recently made management changes and restructured
overheads. A new distributor and product proposition has recently
been launched to coincide with the 90th year of Kleeneze, aimed
at making it easier for distributors to grow their business to
economically viable levels as quickly as possible. Recent trading
is more encouraging, with sales since the year end still behind the
prior year but with the gap narrowing.

Kitbag has made strong progress during the year, with sales
growth of 16% and a £2.5m* improvement in profits – although
it is still loss-making. This sales growth has been driven by both
existing and new contracts, whilst profitability has been driven
primarily by improvements in gross margin (some 1.4 percentage
points versus prior year) as a result of the investments made in
buying and merchandising processes, systems and people.
Improved profitability has also been achieved via the
restructuring or exit of certain unprofitable contracts but there
is still work to do in this area. The pipeline of new contracts
remains strong, with the NBA, NFL, French Open tennis,
Olympique Marseille FC and Tour de France contracts being
signed during the year together with extensions to the existing
contracts with Chelsea FC, Real Madrid, Barcelona and F1. As
flagged earlier in the year, our re-launch of kitbag.com during the
year made slower progress than we had hoped, although sales
in our key international markets continue to grow positively.

Within our Education Supplies Division we have succeeded in
arresting many years of decline and believe we have established
a strong platform for the coming years. Although total sales for
the division have declined during the year largely due to the
anticipated one-off shorter duration of the Sainsbury’s Active
Kids scheme in calendar 2012, core UK brands have grown by
1.1% versus the prior year decline of (12.9%). Despite the
decline in sales, profits* have improved versus prior year to
£0.9m (FY12: £0.8m), and the underlying growth in profits is
even stronger after considering that there is an adverse net
impact versus last year of c.£1.5m after the change in catalogue

timings to April 2012 from January 2012. During the year we
have conducted a full re-engineering of the product selection,
catalogue design/ production and pricing architecture processes
and have launched a further improved set of catalogues into the
market, covering 20% more schools with 34% less physical
catalogues. Towards the end of the financial year the business
demonstrated its recovery by being awarded the Scotland Excel
contract for all Scottish LEA schools, which has the potential to
increase sales in the coming year by around £3m, albeit at a
lower than average margin. Current trading is encouraging, with
total sales ahead of prior year in response to the new catalogues.

The Healthcare (NRS), business performed well during the year.
However, it was clear that to take advantage of the strategic
growth opportunities available to NRS, investment of both
capital and margin would be required in the coming years.
Having already received approaches for the business we
concluded we should explore the disposal option for NRS.
The sale to LDC was completed on 19 April 2013 for a gross
consideration of £24m, and we wish the management team
and the new owner every success in the future.

The disposal of NRS allows us to focus our resources on the
remaining businesses in the group. Our priorities will continue to
be to unlock the remaining potential in the group – continuing the
growth in profits and profitability from Express Gifts, returning
our Education business to levels of profitability much closer to
its peers, continuing the recovery in Kitbag whilst maintaining
growth and reversing the decline in Kleeneze’s profits. We
believe we have clear and realistic plans to achieve our goals.

Roger Siddle
Chief Executive

4 June 2013

‘Our priorities will continue to be to unlock the
remaining potential in the group’
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Our Strategy

We have developed clear plans for each of our
businesses to improve their performance and
achieve their full potential.

Business Review

Express Gifts
one of the largest direct mail order businesses

in the UK

Kleeneze
a leading network marketing company in the UK

and Ireland

Kitbag
a specialist sports retailer selling club branded

replica kits, leisurewear and souvenirs

Education Supplies
one of the largest independent suppliers of

resources and equipment to schools in the UK
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Objective Improvement plans Progress to date

Rejuvenate a major player � Upgrade and integrate core systems

� Implement behavioural credit scoring
systems

� Improve buying and merchandising
processes

� Multi-year project on track

� Now fully rolled out

� Increased use of internal sourcing office

Look for growth � Revise the recruitment offer to new
distributors

� Identify geographic areas with few
distributors

� Revised proposition to distributors
launched in May 2013

� New catalogue formats

Accelerate profitable growth � Accelerate the roll-out of outsourced
retail management to other football clubs

� Develop the pipeline of new sporting
partnerships

� New contract with Olympic Marseille

� New contract wins with Roland Garros,
Tour de France and French Golf
Federation

Turnaround a market leader � Improving supply chain management

� Enhancing customer contact processes

� Improving pricing and category
management

� New buying team generating increased
gross margin

� Service levels improved significantly

� Improved new catalogues launched
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Express Gifts, our core credit-based home shopping business,
is one of the largest direct mail order businesses in the UK
offering online and via catalogue, a broad range of home and
leisure items, clothing, toys and gifts supported by a flexible
credit offer.

Using the branding of Studio and Ace, Express Gifts has 1.3m
active home shopping customers with an average balance of
around £280 that is typically repaid over a six to nine month
period. As well as offering a number of exclusive products,
including an own-brand clothing range, its comprehensive
in-house personalisation facilities distinguish Express Gifts
from other UK retailers.

Over the last few years, Express Gifts’ typical customer has
become increasingly focused upon value in response to the
sustained pressure on their incomes from rising living costs
and modest wage increases. At the same time, pricing
pressures from supermarkets, online retailers and other
traditional mail-order companies have led to some historic
high-street competitors falling into difficulties. Express Gifts
has responded to these factors since 2011 by focusing upon
its pricing and ranges to improve the value proposition to the
customer in its key product ranges: gifts, furniture, clothing
and Christmas items.

In 2011, the business embarked on a multi-year investment
programme to overhaul its infrastructure and systems, some
of which was more than 20 years old. This programme aims
to ensure that Express Gifts can continue to compete in an
increasingly online and immediate marketplace in the future.

Express Gifts
Business profile
Our largest business has continued its strong
performance over the last 12 months, having
broadened its product range and further
improved its pricing to produce significant
levels of customer and revenue growth.

Summary income statement

£000 2013 2012 % change

Revenue 262,979 231,854 13.4%
Cost of sales (126,240) (104,884) 20.4%

Gross profit 136,739 126,970 7.7%
Trading costs (114,916) (108,147) 6.3%

Operating profit 21,823 18,823 15.9%

Gross margin 52.0% 54.8%
Operating margin 8.3% 8.1%

Revenue (£m)

Operating profit (£m)

FY2013FY2011 FY2012
0
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Key performance indicator

Customer base

Bad debt as % revenue

Online ordering

FY12 43%
FY13 51%

FY12 12.4%
FY13 11.4%

FY12 1.2m
FY13 1.3m
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2013 Performance Review
Express Gifts has continued its strong performance in FY13 as a
result of the renewed focus upon the range and competitive
product value for the customer. The business has now seen its
customer numbers grow by a total of 14% since this strategy
was introduced in the 2011 Spring/Summer catalogue, producing
a 13.4% increase in sales and a £9.8m increase to gross profit
in FY13.

The majority of this growth has come from sales to existing
customers and reactivation of dormant customers, meaning that
the associated credit risks are lessened. The favourable
combination of this customer mix, the fully rolled out behavioural
credit scoring system, and sustained tight credit standards has
ensured that the bad debt charge has continued to reduce from
12.4% of sales at March 2012 to 11.4% at March 2013.

Other trading costs remained under tight control, increasing by
much less than the growth in sales despite above-inflationary
increases in postage and utility costs in the year. As a result, the
operating margin for the largest business in the group increased
from 8.1% to 8.3%. Work continues on enhancing product
selection, ranges and prices via a focus on buying and
merchandising with the aim of continuing to improve overall
profitability whilst also maintaining an acceptable level of
growth.

The major systems replacement programme remains on track
and on budget.

The business incurred exceptional costs in FY13 totalling £4.8m
in respect of potential redress for historic PPI sales. The redress
programme is largely complete and no further provision in this
area is currently anticipated.
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Kleeneze is a leading network marketing company, specialising
in supplying a wide range of household and health & beauty
products to customers through a network of some independent
distributors across the UK and the Republic of Ireland.

The business’s direct customers are its self-employed
distributors, who in turn develop their own end customer
bases. Orders are generated from, and delivered to, the end
customers by the distributors who also collect payment at the
time of delivery. Kleeneze provides distributors with short-term
credit accounts in order for them to manage the delay between
dispatch of goods by the company and receipt of payment
from end customers.

Kleeneze
Business profile
Kleeneze has had a disappointing year, with
signs of recovery in the early part of the year
being washed away with the poor weather
from last summer. This served to highlight
the need for changes to our proposition to
distributors, which have recently been
launched at the business’s 90th anniversary
conference.

Summary income statement

£000 2013 2012 % change

Revenue 49,193 53,721 -8.4%
Cost of sales (15,149) (15,983) -5.2%

Gross profit 34,044 37,738 -9.8%
Trading costs (32,053) (34,511) -7.1%

Operating profit 1,990 3,227 -38.3%

Gross margin 69.2% 70.2%
Operating margin 4.0% 6.0%

Revenue (£m)

Operating profit (£m)

FY2013FY2011 FY2012
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Key performance indicator

Distributors

Average distributor
order value

FY12 £220
FY13 £216

FY12 11,003
FY13 9,927



2013 Performance Review
The business started the year with cautious optimism following
the first upturn in distributor numbers seen for several years.
However, the sustained poor weather conditions seen from
June onwards clearly led to greater numbers of newer
distributors failing to develop their businesses and leaving
Kleeneze.

Revenue for the year fell by 8.4% to £49.2m, with the gross
profit margin falling from 70.2% to 69.2% in part due to
promotional activity around product and catalogue sales.
A significant proportion of the trading costs of the business,
including the commissions payable to the distributors, vary
with revenue. Consequently, trading costs reduced by 7.1% to
£32.1m. The net operating profit reduced by £1.2m to £2.0m.
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Kitbag is a specialist sports retailer selling club-branded replica
kits, leisurewear and souvenirs as well as sports-branded
playing and training wear. It operates through its own online
platforms (including Kitbag.com), and also manages officially-
licensed club retail outlets including online, mail order and
physical stores on a white-label basis.

Its capability to manage both online and multi-channel partner
needs (where Kitbag can operate all official retail operations
including on-line, mail order, event retail, stadium stores and
in-town stores and concessions as well as managing product
licensing) is a key factor in its ability to maintain and secure new
contracts with leading football clubs and other major sports
organisations.

The significant growth in revenue seen in previous years did not
translate into profit growth, with a combination of poorly
structured partner contracts and stock management issues
leading to the business becoming loss making in FY12.
Substantial effort has been made to improve its condition to
enable the business reach its full potential in the coming years.

Kitbag
Business profile
Kitbag has seen a substantial recovery over
the last year as a result of a series of
management actions. It continues to work
hard to address its remaining underperforming
contracts and further improve its profitability.
It also continues to secure high profile
sporting institutions who see the attraction
of Kitbag’s proposition.

Summary income statement

£000 2013 2012 % change

Revenue 70,376 60,660 16.0%
Cost of sales (39,949) (35,298) 13.2%

Gross profit 30,427 25,362 20.0%
Trading costs (32,120) (29,574) 8.6%

Operating profit (1,693) (4,212) 59.8%

Gross margin 43.2% 41.8%
Operating margin -2.4% -6.9%

Revenue (£m)

Operating profit (£m)

FY2013FY2011 FY2012
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Key performance indicator

Football as a % of
total revenue

Effective royalty rate

FY12 18.2%
FY13 16.2%

FY12 84%
FY13 82%
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2013 Performance Review
FY13 was a year of strong progress for Kitbag and, although the
business is still loss-making, it has shown encouraging signs of
its ability to return to profit in future periods. A number of new
contracts came on stream in FY13, including a multi-channel
contract with Sunderland AFC and the annualisation of its
contract with Leicester Tigers RFC, whilst other existing
contracts showed good growth – notably Manchester City FC
following its Premier League success. The re-launch of the
business’s own online channel, kitbag.com during the year
made slower progress than planned, although sales in key
international markets continued to grow positively. Overall sales
grew by 16% in the year to £70.4m.

In previous years, sales growth has not always resulted in
a corresponding growth in profitability. However, due to an
increased focus and investment in the buying and merchandising
processes within the business, the gross profit margin has
increased during FY13 from 41.8% to 43.2%.

The other historic cost adversely affecting the business was the
effective royalty rate payable to its sporting partners, which had
rendered a number of those contracts unprofitable. The process
to restructure or exit those contracts was largely completed by
the start of the year, although there remains some work to do
in this area. The effective royalty rate on contracts reduced from
18.2% of sales in FY12 to 16.2% in FY13. Included within
exceptional costs were around £1.3m of costs which were
incurred during the year as a result of these renegotiations
to a number of unprofitable contracts, which are not included
within the operating loss.
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Our Education Supplies division is one of the largest
independent suppliers of resources (excluding IT and publishing)
to schools and other educational establishments in the UK, with
an estimated 8% share of the UK educational supplies market.
The division’s international unit exports to over 120 countries
worldwide.

It operates through a range of brands, marketed both via printed
catalogues and through a variety of e-procurement solutions.
These brands are either primarily focused upon servicing the
commodity requirements of the school with products such as
stationery and janitorial materials, or with a range of general and
specialist products to support the institution’s curricular needs.
In addition, there are a range of specialist and retail-focused
brands that touch most aspects of educational resources. It also
continues to be a partner of Sainsbury’s by fulfilling orders for
its successful Active Kids Scheme.

Changing economic conditions has meant that public sector
funding in the UK has reduced and this has affected education
spending. However, rising pupil numbers, particularly in areas
of the country where the business has a strong presence such
as London, is expected to provide good opportunities for the
business to regain market share that it has lost over a number
of years.

The business has undergone a series of changes over the
last two years, by reviewing all aspects of its supply chain,
re-engineering its catalogue production and enhancing its
customer contact processes, such that its new catalogues
launched in April 2013 cover 20% more schools with 34%
less physical catalogues.

Educational Supplies
Business profile
Our second largest business saw a strong
recovery in its underlying performance, with
one-off items affecting headline numbers.
With its infrastructure, process and supply
chain having been revitalised over the last
few years, and its core UK brands now having
moved back into growth after a long period
of sales decline, it is strongly positioned for
a significant growth in the coming years.

Summary income statement

£000 2013 2012 % change

Revenue 103,225 108,339 -4.7%
Cost of sales (68,376) (71,949) -5.0%

Gross profit 34,849 36,390 -4.2%
Trading costs (33,934) (35,551) -4.5%

Operating profit 915 839 9.1%

Gross margin 33.7% 33.6%
Operating margin 0.9% 0.8%

Revenue (£m)

Operating profit (£m)

FY2013FY2011 FY2012
0

0.5

1.0
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100
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Key performance indicator

UK brands sales growth

Revenue per employee

% of schools covered

Net promoter score

FY12 64%
FY13 79%

FY12 70%
FY13 90%

FY12 £217k
FY13 £242k

FY12 -12.9%
FY13 +1.1%
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2013 Performance Review
The performance of the Education Supplies division in FY13
was significantly better than the reported results might indicate.
Total sales reduced by £5.1m to £103.2m. However, this was
largely due to the anticipated one-off shorter duration of the
Sainsbury’s Active Kids scheme in 2012. The business also
exited from a number of international contracts which had
ceased to be attractive.

The underlying performance from the division’s core UK brands
grew by 1.1% after a number of years of significant decline,
with the Classroom and Specialist brands following the School
brands back into growth. In addition, due to the change in the
timing of catalogue launches from January 2012 to April 2012,
the result for FY12 did not carry any catalogue production costs.
Consequently, the improvement in the underlying profitability of
the division in FY13 was around £1.5m higher than the £0.1m
increase reported above.



Business Review

Finance Director’s Review

Tim Kowalski

The operating profit* of the continuing operations of the group
increased by £3.7m to £22.4m, with an excellent performance
from Express Gifts, a significant reduction in the loss at Kitbag,
stabilisation of the Education Supplies division despite the
changed timing of its catalogue production, offset by lower
profits from Kleeneze.

The favourable impact of both lower average net debt and
sustained lower LIBOR rates resulted in net finance costs*
reducing by £0.7m to £9.5m. Consequently, the group’s
combined profit before tax from its continuing operations and
the Healthcare division** increased by £4.8m to £15.5m.

Unallocated central costs of £0.6m represent the element of
ongoing central group management costs relating to the
Healthcare division. However, as that division has been
classified as a discontinued operation in these results, these
continuing group management costs are shown separately
within continuing operations. Following the completion of the
sale of Healthcare in April 2013, these costs will be reabsorbed
within the other continuing business units in future periods.

Exceptional items
Total exceptional costs (including items in discontinued
operations) of £11.5m (FY12: £22.9m) were incurred as set out
in note 6. These principally relate to the costs and provision for
PPI redress of £4.8m, together with onerous property costs,
changes to senior management, systems improvement,
contract renegotiation and other restructuring costs totalling
£6.4m. Exceptional finance costs of £0.3m were incurred from
the amortisation of costs relating to the 2011 refinancing.

Pensions
The group has continued to make additional voluntary
contributions to its defined benefit schemes totalling £3.2m
in the current financial period (FY12: £3.2m) to improve the
funding levels of these closed schemes. The net deficit at the
end of FY13 measured in accordance with IAS19 increased to
£19.7m (FY12: £13.0m) as a result of actuarial losses in the
year, reflecting a further reduction in corporate bond yields used
to value the schemes’ liabilities.

Group profit before tax
Group profit before tax* was £15.5m in FY13, up £4.8m on FY12, as summarised
below.as summarised below.

2013 2012 Change
£000 £000 £000

Operating profit*:
Express Gifts 21,823 18,823 3,000
Kleeneze 1,992 3,227 (1,237)
Kitbag (1,693) (4,212) 2,519
Education Supplies 915 839 76
Overseas sourcing 42 16 26
Unallocated central costs (637) — (637)

Total continuing operations 22,440 18,693 3,747
Discontinued operations – Healthcare 2,612 2,217 395

Total group operating profit 25,052 20,910 4,142
Net finance costs* (9,507) (10,205) 698

Profit before tax* 15,545 10,705 4,840
Exceptional costs (11,477) (22,853) 11,376

Profit before tax 4,068 (12,148) 16,216

Profit before tax – continuing operations 1,619 (14,204) 15,823

* before exceptional items
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Taxation
The group posted a credit of £0.9m in the year in respect of
taxation (FY12: £8.1m). This principally related to movements
in the deferred taxation position reflecting the increased level
of confidence that losses incurred in prior periods will be utilised
against taxable profits in the near term.

In FY12, the group posted a one-off credit of £4.9m in respect
of adjustments to earlier periods’ liabilities, together with a
credit of £2.9m from deferred tax movements that again related
to the increased use of prior period losses.

Earnings per share and dividends
On 9 April 2013, following approval from shareholders,
a twenty-for-one share consolidation was completed.
This was based on every 20 existing ordinary shares being
converted into one new ordinary share.

The net impact of the £4.5m growth in profit before tax*, the
£11.4m reduction in exceptional items, offset by the £7.3m
reduction in taxation described above, resulted in profit after tax
from continuing operations being £8.5m higher at £2.5m
(FY12: loss after tax of £6.1m).

This equates to a basic earnings per share from continuing
operations of 2.9p per consolidated share (FY12: loss per share
of 7.1p).

As previously reported, the terms of the group’s credit facilities
prohibit the payment of dividends for so long as those facilities
are in place. This is consistent with the board’s belief that the
group should improve its liquidity and invest in its operations
rather than paying dividends for the time being.

Summary balance sheet
2013 2012 Change
£000 £000 £000

Fixed assets 137,081 139,906 (2,825)
Net working capital 198,880 200,690 (1,810)
External net debt (225,153) (230,659) 5,505
Other net liabilities (10,337) (5,800) (4,536)

Net assets 100,471 104,137 (3,666)

Consolidated net assets amounted to £100.5m at the period
end (FY12: £104.1m), largely reflecting the actuarial losses
suffered in respect of the pension liabilities together offset by
other gains in the income statement during the period. These
net assets are equivalent to 118p per consolidated share
(FY12: 123p per share).

Discontinued operations
A conditional agreement was reached on 19 March 2013
to sell the Healthcare division to LDC, and was completed
on 19 April 2013. The gross consideration payable upon
completion was £24.0m, comprised a cash payment of £22.6m
to Findel Plc and a payment of £1.4m into an escrow account
to satisfy the estimated value of NRS' debt to the Findel Group
Pension Fund. An adjustment to the cash element will be made
once that debt has been finalised.

The Healthcare division was classified as being a disposal group
held for sale at the period end. Full details of the results of the
Healthcare division and its assets and liabilities are set out in
note 7.

Cash flow and borrowings
Net cash from operating activities was an inflow of £14.6m
(2012: £4.6m), reflecting the improved trading performance
and focus upon cash generation during FY13.

As a result of the classification of the Healthcare division as
being held for sale at the period end, cash and borrowings
attributable to that division are shown on the balance sheet
within the “assets held for sale” caption, rather than against
the normal cash caption. This is summarised as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Held for resale 6,058 —
Rest of group 27,965 33,099

External total 34,023 33,099

External net debt at the year-end was therefore as follows:

2013 2012 Change
£000 £000 £000

External bank borrowings 154,176 164,921 10,745
Less total cash (34,023) (33,099) 924

Core bank debt 120,153 131,822 11,669
Securitisation drawings 105,000 98,837 (6,163)

Net debt 225,153 230,659 5,506

Treasury and risk management
The group’s central treasury function seeks to reduce or
eliminate exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate and other
financial risks, to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet
foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely and
profitably. It does not engage in speculative transactions and
transacts only in relation to underlying business requirements.

Interest rate risk management
The group’s interest rate exposure is managed by the use of
derivative arrangements as appropriate, details of which are set
out in note 34 to the financial statements. Three interest rate
caps covering the three years to February 2014 were purchased
shortly before the refinancing in March 2011 to protect against
the risk of rising LIBOR rates.

Net interest costs* for the year were £9.5m, down from
£10.5m in 2012, reflecting lower average borrowings and
lower borrowing rates. This charge was covered 2.4 times by
operating profit* (FY12: 2.0 times). In addition to this, the group
incurred £0.3m of exceptional finance charges relating to the
March 2011 refinancing.
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Business Review

Currency risk management
A proportion of the products sold principally through the group’s
Express Gifts division are procured through the group’s Far East
buying office. The currency of purchase for these goods is
principally the US dollar, with a proportion being denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. The group has a policy of hedging these
foreign currency denominated transactions by entering into
forward exchange purchase contracts within the current
financial period. At the balance sheet date, the group had
no outstanding contracts in place.

Borrowing risk
The group’s exposure to borrowing and cash investment risk
is managed by dealing only with banks and financial institutions
with strong credit ratings, within limits set for each organisation.

Principal risks and uncertainties
There are a number of risks and uncertainties that could impact
the performance of the group over and above the treasury risks
considered above. Group and divisional management, through
the budgeting, forecasting and monthly review of actual results,
review business risks and seek to mitigate these risks as far as
possible, as described in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 24 to 26. The risks relate to three key areas of review
by the group being those specific to the group’s divisions,
economic and regulatory risks, and operational risks.

Risks specific to the group’s divisions
The business of the Express Gifts division is seasonal, and is
more heavily weighted towards the second half of the financial
year. In addition the division is reliant on credit scoring
techniques in the recruitment of new customers.

In the Education Supplies division, the September and March
“Back-to-School” periods account for much of the market’s
annual sales and profits. The group is focused on delivering
a high quality of service and being well prepared for managing
peak demand in all of its businesses.

The Education Supplies division could be adversely affected
if a local authority were to withdraw “Approved Supplier”
status. The group is focused on maintaining appropriate quality
of service to ensure it retains this supplier status and retains
and wins new contracts.

Economic and regulatory risks
The group may be negatively affected by the impact of the
economic downturn on consumer spending or the ability of its
customers to service their debts.

The impact of the sustained reductions in government spending
on education may adversely impact the performance of the
Education Supplies division and may in turn have a material
adverse effect on the group’s business. The continued or
prolonged withdrawal of credit insurance traditionally provided
to the group’s suppliers could have an adverse effect on the
group’s business. In addition the failure of the group to meet its
debt obligations or comply with the terms of its credit facilities
could have a similar impact.

Interruptions in the availability or flow of stock from third-party
product suppliers or defaults by tenants on sublet properties
could have an adverse effect on the group’s business.

To mitigate this risk, the group purchases products from a wide
variety of domestic and international third party product
suppliers.

The group’s operations may be adversely affected by legal,
regulatory and other developments in countries in which it
operates. The group is subject to a range of legal and regulatory
requirements originating from the UK (particularly the Consumer
Credit Act and Data Protection), the other countries in which
it operates and in the European Union, particularly in areas of
consumer protection, product safety, competition, provision
of credit, selling of financial services and extended warranties,
copyright royalties, levies, health and safety, taxation,
environment, labour and employment practices (including
pensions). The group manages these risks in conjunction with
third party professionals, where appropriate.

Deteriorating markets and reputational risks could result in
the impairment of goodwill, intangible assets (including brands)
and property, plant and equipment, which may adversely affect
the group’s financial position. The group focuses on maintaining
the highest quality of service to mitigate against any impairment
in the value of its businesses.

Finance Director’s Review continued
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Accounting policies and standards
The principal accounting policies applied by the group are shown
on pages 52 to 57. There have been no changes to those
policies during the year.

Going concern basis
In determining whether the group’s financial statements for
the period ended 29 March 2013 can be prepared on a going
concern basis, the directors considered all factors likely to affect
its future development, performance and its financial position,
including cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities
and the risks and uncertainties relating to its business activities
in the current challenging economic climate. The financial
position of the group, its cash flows, liquidity position and
borrowing facilities and the key risks and uncertainties are
set out in further detail above.

The directors have reviewed the trading and cash flow forecasts
as part of their going concern assessment, including reasonable
downside sensitivities which take into account the uncertainties
in the current operating environment including amongst other
matters demand for the group’s products, its available financing
facilities, and movements in interest rates. Although at certain
times the level of headroom against certain covenants reduces to
a level which is less than the directors would regard as desirable
in the long term, the directors believe it to be sufficient and have
identified controllable mitigating actions that could be
implemented if required.

Taking into account the above uncertainties and circumstances,
the directors formed a judgement that there is a reasonable
expectation that the company and the group have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future.

Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the group’s annual consolidated financial statements.

Tim Kowalski
Group Finance Director

4 June 2013

Operational risk
The group is dependent on its senior management. The group
has entered into employment contracts and taken other steps
to encourage the retention of these individuals, and to identify
and retain additional personnel. The group’s business may be
affected by the default of third parties in respect of monies
owing by them to the group. However the majority of amounts
owed to the group comprise small balances spread across a
large number of accounts and active consideration of credit risk
is carried out throughout the group.

The group has funding risks relating to its defined benefit
pension schemes. Whilst these schemes are closed to both
new members and additional accruals, they remain subject to
risks regarding the relative amount of each of the scheme’s
assets, which is affected by the value of investments held by
the scheme and the returns derived from such investments, as
compared to its liabilities, which are affected by changes in life
expectancy, inflation and future salary increases. To improve the
funding of these schemes the group has agreed funding plans
with the schemes’ trustees and as a result makes additional
contributions to the schemes.

The group may fail to keep up with advances in internet
technology. Furthermore information technology systems failure
or disruption could impact the group’s day-to-day operations.
The group relies heavily on its information technology systems
to record and process transactions and manage its operations
as well as to enable its customers to purchase products online
and over the phone. The group has seen significant growth in
the proportion of its home shopping sales which are derived
from the internet, and these now represent over 40% of the
total sales of the Home Shopping division. The group is focused
on investing appropriately in its information technology systems
and progressively developing its e-commerce capabilities.

The group is dependent on third parties for outsourcing
functions. The group carries out extensive reviews of any
potential outsourcing partner. Loss of, or disruption to, the
group’s distribution centres and administrative sites would have
a material adverse effect on the group’s business. The group
has established disaster recovery procedures designed to
minimise the impact of any such disruption. The group also
carries insurance cover against the potential loss of key
facilities.

Financial risk
The group is reliant on the continued provision of credit
facilities, and the ability to refinance them as they fall due, to
support its operations as it seeks to reduce its net borrowings
to a more appropriate level. The current facility agreements
which mature in March 2016 include various financial covenants
which, if not complied with, would enable the lenders to seek
immediate repayment of amounts outstanding under the
outstanding credit facilities.
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Board of Directors

Secretary and
Registered Office
M Ashcroft
2 Gregory Street
Hyde
Cheshire
SK14 4TH

Company Number:
549034

Auditors
KPMG Audit Plc
St James’ Square
Manchester
M2 6DS

Registrars
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing
West Sussex
BN99 6DA

(a) Member of the Nomination
Committee

(b) Member of the Audit and
Risk Committee

(c) Member of the Remuneration
Committee

7. Mr M L Hawker, 63(a)(b)(c)
Non-executive director

Mike Hawker joined the board
in July 2006, with over 25 years
experience in home shopping,
having previously been chief
executive of Otto (UK). Prior to
his position at Otto (UK), he
was chief executive of Redcats
Group and prior to that, a
director of Sears plc.

8. Mr W Grimsey, 61(a)(b)(c)
Non-executive director

Bill Grimsey joined the board in
March 2012. He has held a
variety of senior executive and
non-executive roles with
companies in the retail sector
such as Tesco, Kingfisher,
Wickes and the Big Food
Group. Most recently he was
the non-executive chairman of
Focus (DIY) Ltd.

1 3 5 7

2 4 6 8

5. Mr E F Tracey, 64(a)(b)(c)
Senior non-executive director

Eric Tracey was appointed to
the board on 28 August 2009.
He is a non-executive director
of The NEC Group and Burton
Foods Ltd and a partner in
investment manager,
Governance for Owners LLP.
Prior to this Eric was senior
independent director and
chairman of the audit
committee at Chloride Group
plc and group finance director
of Amey plc and Wembley plc,
having previously been a
partner in Deloitte & Touche.

6. Mrs L C Powers-Freeling,
56(a)(b)(c)
Non-executive director

Laurel Powers-Freeling was
appointed to the board as a non-
executive director on 1 October
2010. She has previously been
a group executive director of
Marks & Spencer Group Plc;
CEO of Marks & Spencer
Financial Services Plc and most
recently the UK country manager
and chairman of the European
Insurance Business at American
Express Services Europe Ltd.
Laurel’s previous roles have
included managing director of
the Wealth Management
Division at Lloyds TSB Group plc,
finance and strategy director of
their UK Retail Banking Division,
and a senior adviser to the
Bank of England. She currently
holds non-executive director
positions at BBA-LIBOR Ltd
and the Bank of Ireland (UK) plc
and C. Hoare & Co.

3. Mr T J Kowalski, 54
Finance Director

Tim Kowalski joined the board
as finance director on 2 August
2010. Prior to this he had many
years of experience in retail and
consumer businesses both
public and private including
N Brown plc, Steinhoff Ltd,
HomeForm Ltd, Greenalls PLC,
Grand Metropolitan PLC and
Burton Group PLC.

4. Mr P B Maudsley, 52
Managing Director,
Home Shopping

Philip Maudsley joined the group
in 1987 as general manager of a
manufacturing subsidiary. He
became managing director of
the Home Shopping Division in
1994 and was appointed to the
board on 6 April 2004. He was
subsequently appointed group
managing director in December
2004, chief operating officer in
May 2006 and then chief
executive in November 2009.
Phil was appointed managing
director of the Home Shopping
Division in September 2010.

1. Mr D A Sugden, 61(a)
Chairman

David Sugden joined the board
on 28 August 2009 and became
chairman on 6 April 2010.
He has been chairman of
BPP Holdings plc, chairman of
MSB International plc, group
chief executive of Geest plc,
group finance director of
Spear & Jackson International plc
and a non-executive director
of Greencore Group plc,
Mouchel plc and Applied
Distribution Limited.

2. Mr R W J Siddle, 52(a)
Chief Executive

Roger Siddle was appointed
chief executive on 15 September
2010. Prior to this, hewas chief
executive of BPP Holdings plc.
He is a formermanaging partner
of the UK business of Bain &
Company.
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The directors present their annual report and accounts on the affairs of the group, together with the financial statements and
auditors’ report for the 52 week period ended 29 March 2013. The Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 24 to 26 forms
part of this report.

Activities
The principal activities of the group are home shopping and education supplies sales through mail order catalogues and the internet.
During the year the group sold its outsourced healthcare services business.

Business Review
The Business Review can be found within the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Review, the Business Review and the
Finance Director’s Review on pages 2 to 19. This includes a review of the group’s activities; the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the group; the main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, performance or position of the group’s
business; and the key performance indicators identified by management. The Business Review also comprises the management
report for the purposes of the FSA Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR 4.1.8R). All such information as is required to be
contained in this report by s.417 of the Companies Act 2006 is incorporated by reference into this report.

Dividends
The directors have determined that no interim dividend will be paid (2012: nil) and are not recommending the payment of a final
dividend (2012: nil).

Financial Risk Management
Policies on financial risk management are set out in note 34.

Capital Structure
Details of the issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the company’s issued share capital during the year are
shown in note 26 and such information is incorporated into this report. Since the end of the year the company has consolidated its
share capital by the conversion of every 20 ordinary shares of 5p each into 1 ordinary share of £1. All rights and obligations attaching
to the ordinary shares remain unchanged.

The company has two classes of share, neither of which carries rights to fixed income. The rights and obligations attaching to both
classes of share are contained in the Articles of Association, a copy of which is available for inspection at the registered office of the
company. The ordinary shares carry the right to attend and speak at general meetings of the company, to one vote on each
resolution at such meetings, to appoint proxies to exercise full voting rights and to participate in any distribution of income or
capital. The holders of convertible shares have a right to attend meetings but no voting rights (save in respect of any resolution
relating to the rights of the convertible shares). The following rights and restrictions attach to the convertible shares:

� rights attaching to the convertible shares may only be varied by resolution passed by the holders of 85% or more of the nominal
value of the convertible shares then in issue;

� consent of 85% of the holders of convertible shares is required before the company declares any dividend or distribution in
excess of 50% of the group’s net income in respect of any accounting reference period, and the convertible shares have the
right to participate in any dividend to the extent that it exceeds 50% of the group’s net income in respect of any accounting
reference period;

� the right to elect to participate in any return of capital on a voluntary winding-up of the company as if the convertible shares had
been converted into ordinary shares;

� the right to convert the convertible shares into ordinary shares between 28 February 2013 and 28 February 2021 (Conversion
Period) if the volume weighted average ordinary share price is greater than 23.97p (£4.794 following the 1 for 20 share
consolidation);

� the convertible shares will automatically be converted into ordinary shares in the event of a takeover offer;

� on conversion into new ordinary shares the convertible shares will rank pari passu with existing ordinary shares;

� until expiry of the Conversion Period, or earlier conversion, the company is subject to certain restrictions including that it shall
not, without the consent of 85% of the holders of convertible shares:

– vary the rights attached to the ordinary shares;

– create a new class of shares ranking ahead of the ordinary shares;

– convert the company from a public company to a private company;

– issue loan stock or debt instruments or enter into any borrowing save on arm’s length terms.

� if the convertible shares have not converted into ordinary shares within the Conversion Period they will automatically convert
into non-voting deferred shares with no voting or profit or capital participation rights.

Directors’ Report



Directors’ Report

22 Findel plc Annual report and accounts 2013

Governance

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding or on the transfer of ordinary shares or convertible shares and there are
no requirements for prior approval of any transfers; all such matters are governed by the general provisions of the Articles of
Association and prevailing legislation. The directors are not aware of any agreements between holders of the company’s shares that
may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.

Details of employee share schemes are set out in note 25. Shares held by the Findel plc Employee Benefit Trust rank pari passu
with the ordinary shares in issue and have no special rights, but abstain from voting.

Other than the holders of convertible shares (see above) no person has any special rights of control over the company’s share
capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

There are a number of agreements that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the company such as commercial
contracts, bank loan agreements, property lease arrangements and employees’ share plans. Any such situation would be carefully
managed to ensure that any effect on the business was minimised. Furthermore, the directors are not aware of any agreements
between the company and its directors or employees that provide for compensation for loss of office or employment that occurs
as a consequence of a takeover bid, other than as disclosed in the Board Report on Directors’ Remuneration.

Supplier Payment Policy
The policy of the company is to agree in advance the terms of payment with suppliers, ensure suppliers are made aware of these
terms and to abide by such terms. The company’s trade payables at 29 March 2013 represented 58 creditor days (2012: 43 days)
based on the total amounts invoiced by suppliers during the year. Further details can be found in note 20 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Directors
The directors of the company at the date of this report are shown on page 20. Information concerning their interests in the share
capital of the company is included in the Board Report on Directors’ Remuneration on page 39. All the directors served throughout the
year save that Mr McKay retired from the board at the conclusion of the 2012 annual general meeting. Mrs Powers-Freeling and
Mr Kowalski will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for reappointment at the annual general meeting.
Mr Hawker has indicated his intention to retire from the board at the conclusion of the 2013 annual general meeting.

With regard to the appointment and replacement of directors, the company is governed by its Articles of Association, the UK
Corporate Governance Code, the Companies Act 2006 and related legislation. The Articles themselves may be amended by special
resolution of the shareholders. The powers of directors are described in the Articles and the Main Board Terms of Reference, copies
of which are available on request, and in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 24 to 26.

During the period ended 29 March 2013, no director had any material interest in any significant contract to which the company
or any subsidiary was a party.

Conflicts of Interest
The company has a procedure for the disclosure, review, authorisation and management of directors’ conflicts of interest and
potential conflicts of interest, in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. The procedure is included in the Articles
of Association and has been adhered to by the board since its introduction. In deciding whether to authorise a conflict or potential
conflict of interest, the directors must have regard to their general duties under the Companies Act 2006. The authorisation of any
conflict matter, and the terms of authorisation are reviewed by the board as appropriate and, as a minimum, on an annual basis.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance and Indemnity
The group maintains insurance for directors and officers of the group, indemnifying them against certain liabilities incurred by them
when acting on behalf of the group. The directors may also be indemnified in accordance with the company’s Articles of Association
and to the maximum extent permitted by law, although no such indemnities are currently in place. The insurance does not, and any
indemnities if granted would not, provide cover where the relevant director or officer has acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

Employees
The company recognises its social and statutory duty to employ disabled persons and pursues a policy of providing, wherever
possible, the same employment opportunities to disabled persons as to others, and training for employees who have become
disabled during the period when they were employed by the group. Information to employees regarding the company and factors
affecting its performance and that of its subsidiaries is provided through normal management channels and regular consultation.

Donations
During the year the group made charitable donations of £26,000 (2012: £24,000). There were no donations for political purposes
(2012: £nil).
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Substantial Shareholdings
As at 4 June 2013 the company had been notified of the following material interests of 3% or more in its share capital:

Proportion Proportion
Number of Share Number of voting rights of voting

of Shares Capital Direct Indirect rights

Schroders plc* 24,807,374 28.53% — 21,394,420 24.60%
Toscafund Asset Management LLP* 23,822,636 27.40% — 23,822,636 27.40%
Henderson Global Investors Limited* 4,213,195 4.84% — 4,213,196 4.84%
Legal & General Group PLC 3,635,671 4.18% — 3,635,671 4.18%
Standard Life Investments Limited* 3,450,768 3.97% — 3,450,768 3.97%

* The interests shown above have been calculated by adjusting the details included in the most recent notification received from
the shareholder concerned to reflect the impact of the 1 for 20 share consolidation completed on 9 April 2013.

Auditors
Our auditor, KPMG Audit Plc has informed the company that for administrative reasons and to instigate an orderly wind down of
business they wish to formally change the entity which conducts the company’s audit from KPMG Audit Plc to KPMG LLP. KPMG
Audit Plc has indicated that it will not stand for reappointment at the annual general meeting. The board has decided to recommend
KPMG LLP to be appointed as external auditor to the company and a resolution concerning their appointment will be proposed at
the annual general meeting together with a resolution to authorise the directors to set the remuneration of the auditor. An analysis
of audit and non-audit fees earned by the auditors during the year is set out at note 11 to the accounts.

Relevant Audit Information
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the company at the date when this report was approved:

� so far as each of the directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which
the company’s auditors are unaware; and

� each of the directors has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director to make himself/herself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Annual General Meeting
Notice of the annual general meeting to be held on 24 July 2013 in the form of a separate circular will be issued to shareholders
with the annual report and accounts of the company and will include details of the business to be transacted at the meeting and
an explanation of all resolutions to be considered at the annual general meeting.

By order of the board

M Ashcroft
Secretary

4 June 2013



24 Findel plc Annual report and accounts 2013

Governance

The board has confirmed its commitment to business integrity and professionalism in all its activities and maintaining the highest
standards in corporate governance.

Compliance
The board considers that throughout the year under review the company has complied with the relevant provisions of
the UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code), and with the rules of the UK Listing Authority, with one exception. Due to an
administrative error the company was not in compliance with code provision D.2.3 in the period from the start of the year until
the annual general meeting held on 26 July 2012. Until that date the company had operated under the assumption that the cap
on the aggregate amount of fees paid to non-executive directors was as adopted in 2009 (i.e. £500,000). This higher cap should
have been, but was not, incorporated into the articles of association adopted by shareholders in 2010 and 2011. The Articles of
Association were amended to regularise the situation at the 2012 annual general meeting.

Application of the principles of the Code
This report explains how the company has applied the main principles of the Code to its activities. The section of the Code entitled
“Main Principles of the Code” sets out the main and supporting principles of good governance for companies, which are split into
the following topics: leadership; effectiveness; accountability and audit; remuneration and relations with shareholders.

The Board
At 29 March 2013, the board was made up of eight members comprising the chairman, Mr Sugden; the chief executive, Mr Siddle;
the finance director, Mr Kowalski; a further executive director, Mr Maudsley and four non-executive directors. The non-executive
directors are considered by the board to be independent of management and free of any relationship which could materially
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement. Biographical details of each of the directors, which illustrate their range
of experience, are set out on page 20.

The senior independent director is Mr Tracey and he is the director whom shareholders may contact if they feel their concerns are
not being addressed through the normal channels. The chairman and non-executive directors met during the year without the
executive directors present.

Directors are subject to election at the annual general meeting immediately following their appointment and to reappointment
at least every three years. The board has determined that in the normal course non-executive directors will be asked to serve two
terms of three years. The board assesses annually whether each non-executive director is independent against the criteria set out
in the Combined Code.

Mr Hawker has decided to step down from the board at the conclusion of the 2013 annual general meeting.

The directors to be proposed for re-appointment at the 2013 annual general meeting will be Mrs Powers-Freeling, who joined
the board in October 2010 and retires by rotation and Mr Kowalski, who joined the board in August 2010 and who also retires
by rotation. Following the annual performance evaluation, the board confirms that the performance of the directors subject to
re-appointment has been effective throughout the period, and that they have continued to demonstrate commitment to their roles.
The Nominations Committee endorses their proposed reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Board Procedures
The board met formally in person or by telephone conference call on eleven occasions during the period and individual attendance
at those and at the meetings of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee is set out in the table
below. The board receives adequate and timely information to enable the directors to discharge their duties. In addition to matters
statutorily reserved for a board, there is an agreed schedule of matters reserved for the board for collective decision including:

� determining the strategy and control of the group;

� amendments to the structure and capital of the group;

� approval of financial reporting and internal controls;

� approval of capital and revenue expenditure of a significant size;

� acquisitions and disposals above a prescribed level; and

� corporate governance matters and approval of group policies and risk management strategies.

To enable the board to perform its duties effectively all directors have full access to all relevant information and to the services of
the company secretary whose responsibility it is to ensure that board procedures are followed. The appointment and removal of the
company secretary is a matter reserved for the board. There is an agreed procedure whereby directors wishing to take independent
legal advice in the furtherance of their duties may do so at the company’s expense. Appropriate training is available to all directors
on appointment and on an ongoing basis as required.

The terms of reference for each of the Board Committees are available on request from the company secretary or on the company’s
website (www.findel.co.uk).

Corporate Governance Report



Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
The following table shows the attendance of directors at meetings of the board and of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Committees of the board during the period to 29 March 2013:

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

D A Sugden 11 * * 1
R W J Siddle 11 * * 1
T J Kowalski 11 * * *
P B Maudsley 10 * * *
E F Tracey 11 5 7 1
M L Hawker† 11 4 7 1
S S McKay§ 3 2 3 1
L C Powers-Freeling 9 4 6 1
W Grimsey‡ 11 5 5 1
Number of meetings in the year 11 5 7 1

* Where an asterisk appears in the table the director listed was not a member of the committee during the year.

† Mr Hawker was appointed to the Audit Committee at the end of July 2012 and attended all meetings held during his tenure on the
Committee.

‡ Mr Grimsey was appointed to the Remuneration Committee at the end of July 2012 and attended all meetings during his tenure
on the Committee.

§ Mr McKay retired from the board, from the Audit and Risk Committee and from the Remuneration Committee in July 2012. He
attended all meetings during his tenure.

The few occasions noted above when a full complement of the board did not attend a board meeting were in all cases meetings
held by telephone call outside of the normal board programme to discuss specific issues. In each case, following the meeting
the chairman discussed the issues covered with the board member concerned.

Board Effectiveness
The performance of the board as a whole was assessed during the year by a process involving the completion of self and peer
review questionnaires by each director, a one to one discussion between each director and the chairman and a discussion by the
board as a whole. The effectiveness of the board was judged to have improved during the year and additional actions were agreed
to further improve performance.

The performance of each director has been assessed by the chairman and by peer review and has been discussed in a one to one
meeting between the chairman and the individual director.

The non-executive directors, chaired by the senior independent director, met during the financial year without the chairman present
to assess his performance. The senior independent director then discussed the results of that assessment with the chairman.

Relations with Shareholders
The company recognises the importance of communicating with its shareholders, to ensure that its strategy and performance are
understood. This is achieved principally through the Half Year Report, Interim Management Statements, the Annual Report and the
annual general meeting. In addition, a range of corporate information is available to investors on the company’s website
(www.findel.co.uk).

The chairman is primarily responsible for investor relations. Feedback from major shareholders is reported to the board and
discussed at its meetings. Formal presentations are made to institutional shareholders following the announcement of the
company’s full year and half year results. During the year the senior independent director has been available to meet with
institutional shareholders if requested and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee has met with institutional shareholders
to discuss specific remuneration issues. The board recognises that the annual general meeting is the principal forum for dialogue
with private shareholders. All directors normally attend the annual general meeting and are available to answer any questions
that shareholders may wish to raise. The Notice of Meeting is sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before the meeting.
Shareholders vote on a show of hands, unless a poll is validly called and after each such vote the number of proxy votes received
for and against the resolution is announced.
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Review of Committee Structure
The board reviewed the membership of its principle committees at the time of the retirement of Mr McKay from the board.
With effect from the close of the annual general meeting on 26 July 2012 Mr McKay retired from the Audit & Risk Committee
and from the Remuneration Committee and Mr Hawker joined the Audit & Risk Committee and Mr Grimsey joined the Remuneration
Committee. Mr Hawker will retire from each of the Audit and Risk Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nominations
Committee when he steps down from the board at the conclusion of the 2013 annual general meeting. Details of the membership
of the committees as at the end of the period under review are included on page 20.

Audit & Risk Committee
The Audit Committee was reconstituted during the year as the Audit & Risk Committee with expanded written terms of reference,
which were reviewed during the period and are available on the company’s website (www.findel.co.uk). The principal changes relate
to reviewing and monitoring internal controls and risk management and updating its remit relating to the monitoring of the group’s
procedures relating to whistleblowing and the prevention of fraud and bribery. The Committee is comprised of only independent
non-executive directors and is chaired by Mr Tracey. The Committee’s report is set out on pages 43 and 44.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee operates under written terms of reference which are available on the company’s website
(www.findel.co.uk). It is comprised of only independent non-executive directors. Mr Hawker is the current chairman and
Mrs Powers-Freeling will take over the chair of this Committee upon Mr Hawker’s retirement at the close of the 2013 annual
general meeting. The committee’s report is set out on pages 28 to 39.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee operates under written terms of reference which are available on the company’s website
(www.findel.co.uk). Its principal duties are to periodically review the composition of the board and to recommend suitable
candidates for approval by the board to fill executive and non-executive vacancies. During the year the Nomination Committee
comprised the chairman, the chief executive and the current independent non-executive directors. The committee chairman
is Mr Sugden.

By order of the board

M Ashcroft
Secretary

4 June 2013
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Annual Report and
the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the group and parent company financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they are required to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law
and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the group
and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

� select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

� make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

� for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

� for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the parent company financial statements; and

� prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and the parent
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent company and enable them to
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’ Remuneration
Report and Corporate Governance Statement that complies with that law and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

The directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

(i) the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as
a whole; and

(ii) the business review includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the
company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that they face.

The names and functions of the directors of the company are:

Mr D A Sugden Chairman
Mr R W J Siddle Group Chief Executive
Mr T J Kowalski Group Finance Director
Mr P B Maudsley Managing Director, Home Shopping
Mr E F Tracey Senior Independent Director
Mr W Grimsey Non-Executive Director
Mr M L Hawker Non-Executive Director
Mrs L C Powers-Freeling Non-Executive Director

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities Pursuant to Disclosure and
Transparency Rules 4.1.12



Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the board, I am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 29 March 2013, for which
we will be seeking approval from our shareholders at our annual general meeting.

The Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”) has responded to the draft proposals on directors’ pay published by the Department
for Business, Innovation & Skills (‘BIS’), by changing the format of this report, which is now split into two sections: a Remuneration
Policy Report which sets out the policy on the remuneration of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors and an Implementation
Report which discloses how the current remuneration policy has been implemented in the year ended 29 March 2013. We will be
seeking your support for both parts of the report by way of a single advisory vote at the forthcoming AGM on 24 July 2013.

Splitting this year’s Directors’ Remuneration Report into separate Remuneration Policy and Implementation Reports is considered a
progressive step towards full compliance with the revised BIS disclosure requirements against which Findel will be required to
comply when reporting next year.

Performance and Remuneration for 2012/13
As set out in the Chairman’s Statement this has been another year of considerable progress against the company’s multi-year
turnaround plan with significant improvement across all the company’s key financial metrics. Full details of the level of performance
achieved during the year under review are detailed in the Business Review on pages 6 to 15.

As a result of the performance described above, the Committee assessed the annual bonus payout as being 62.4%, 64.4% and
62.4% of salary for the Chief Executive, Finance Director and the Managing Director, Home Shopping respectively.

Long-term incentive awards which were due to vest in the year under review, were subject to 50% benchmark earnings per share
(EPS) growth targets and 50% relative total shareholder return (TSR) performance targets measured against the constituents of the
FTSE Small Cap. Neither of the threshold targets was met so these awards lapsed in full. These awards were granted prior to the
successful restructuring of the company’s balance sheet that took place in March 2011 and, as such, related to performance
objectives that pre-date the current strategy.

The Committee considers that the remuneration which is payable to the Executive Directors for the financial year to be aligned to
company and individual performance.

Key remuneration issues for 2012/13
During 2012/13 the Committee met seven times. The key matters which were discussed are as follows:

� The salary levels of the Executive Directors;

� The bonus out-turn for the 2011/12 annual bonuses;

� The terms of the 2012/13 annual bonus plan;

� The quantum and performance targets for the 2012/13 Performance Share Plan awards;

� Implementation of clawback provisions into the 2012/13 Performance Share Plan awards;

� Testing of the 2009 Performance Share Plan award’s performance targets;

� Review of current remuneration (including outstanding long-term incentive awards);

� Approval of 2011/12 Directors’ Remuneration Report;

� Consideration of developments in best practice; and

� Review of remuneration consultants.

Changes in remuneration policy for 2013/14
We are extending Clawback provisions to annual bonus payable in respect of performance from April 2013 onwards. With regards
to the 2013/14 long-term incentive awards, the Remuneration Committee is currently in the process of finalising the details of these
awards which will be disclosed in next year’s Implementation Report. As a matter of principle, material adjustments to remuneration
policy or practice, where it is considered relevant, are accompanied by appropriate dialogue with the company’s major shareholders.

The Committee is comfortable that the current overall structure of remuneration does not inadvertently encourage undue risk taking
through vigorous review of the annual bonus determination and a significant proportion of total remuneration being weighted
towards long-term performance.

Shareholders’ Views
The Remuneration Committee continually reviews shareholders’ views and developments in corporate governance ‘best practice’.
Should it be considered appropriate to materially amend the current remuneration policy, the Committee would look to engage in an
appropriate form of consultation with the company’s major shareholders. On behalf of the board, I would like to thank shareholders
for their continued support and look forward to your support of our remuneration policy at the 2013 annual general meeting.

Mike Hawker, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Board Report on Directors’ Remuneration
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Introduction
This report has been prepared in accordance with provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-
sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. In addition to adopting a number of the proposals from BIS
on disclosure, the report also meets the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and describes
how the board has applied the principles of good governance relating to directors’ remuneration. It represents the company’s policy
on executive remuneration for the year under review and, subject to ongoing review by the Committee, subsequent years. As
required by the Regulations, a resolution to approve the report will be proposed at the annual general meeting of the company.

The Implementation Report sets out remuneration paid in respect of the year under review, whilst the Remuneration Policy Report
sets out the policy that will apply in 2013/14.

Current legislation requires the auditors to report to the company’s members on the ‘auditable parts’ of the directors’ remuneration
report and to state whether, in their opinion, the parts of the report that have been subject to audit have been properly prepared in
accordance with the relevant legislation. The parts of this report which have been audited have been highlighted accordingly.

Remuneration Policy Report

Policy on Remuneration of Executive Directors
The key objectives of the remuneration policy for executive directors are:

� To provide a competitive remuneration package which will attract and retain the highest calibre of executive;

� To ensure that individual rewards and incentives are properly aligned with personal performance, the performance of the group,
and the interests of shareholders;

� To structure remuneration packages so a significant proportion is performance related;

� To operate simple, transparent incentive structures with a clear aim to reward for long-term shareholder value creation; and

� To set executive pay packages with reference to pay and employment conditions in the wider workforce.

In line with the Association of British Insurers’ (ABI) Guidelines on Responsible Investment Disclosure, the Remuneration
Committee ensures that the incentive structure for executive directors and senior executive management will not raise
environmental, social or governance (ESG) risks by inadvertently motivating irresponsible behaviour. More generally, with regard to
the overall remuneration structure, there is no restriction on the Committee which prevents it from taking into account corporate
governance on ESG matters.

Remuneration policy is reviewed regularly and the Committee is satisfied that the current policy does not encourage undue risk
taking (e.g. due to the range of performance metrics used in incentive plans and the substantial weighting towards long-term
performance) and that it is not in conflict with the company’s policies on internal controls that are used to manage risk more
generally.

The Committee takes due account of remuneration structures elsewhere in the group when setting pay for the executive directors
(for example, consideration is given to the overall salary increase budget and the incentive structures that operate across the group).
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The table below summarises the remuneration policy currently anticipated to apply for 2013/14. As a matter of best practice, on an
ongoing basis, any changes to the company’s remuneration policy would only take place following appropriate prior dialogue with
the company’s shareholders.

Purpose and Link
to Strategy

Operation
2013/14
Maximum

2013/14
Performance
Metrics

2013/14
Application of Policy

Base Salary

To attract and
retain high calibre
executives

Reviewed on an annual basis
with increases effective from
1 August

Increases will generally be in
line with those of the wider
workforce

Base salaries will be set by
the Committee taking into
account:

• the skills, knowledge and
experience of the individual

• individual performance and
development within the role

• any change in
responsibilities

• rates of inflation and market
wide wage increases in
comparable companies

• pay and employment
conditions elsewhere in the
group

Current salaries are as
follows:

CEO: £400,000

FD: £274,188

MD, Home Shopping:
£350,000

The above salaries
will be reviewed in
line with the
company’s policy each
year with any changes
detailed in full in the
following year’s
Implementation
Report

N/A Salaries will be reviewed
with effect from 1 August
2013 in line with the
company’s policy

Pension

To provide market
competitive long-
term retirement
benefits and
reward
mechanism

Pension benefits are typically
provided either through (i) a
contribution to a personal
pension arrangement or (ii) a
cash supplement in lieu of
pension provision

Only basic salary is
pensionable

Pension benefits:

• CEO – 20% of basic
salary

• FD – 15% of basic
salary

• MD, Home
Shopping – £83,020

N/A No material changes took
place during the year
under review

Benefits

To provide cost
effective
employee benefits

Other benefits include a
company car or car allowance,
fuel, private medical insurance
and home telephone costs

The value of insured
benefits will vary year-
on-year based on the
cost of providing the
insured benefit, and is
included in the
emoluments table on
page 36

N/A No material changes took
place during the year
under review
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Purpose and Link
to Strategy

Operation
2013/14
Maximum

2013/14
Performance Metrics

2013/14
Application of Policy

Performance related bonus

To incentivise and
reward for the
achievement of
short-term targets
linked to the
company’s annual
KPIs

Maximum opportunity is
set by reference to market
practice in companies of a
comparable size and
complexity

100% of salary 80% is based upon a
challenging sliding scale
of profit targets that
reflect the stretch
performance identified in
the company’s business
plan

20% is based upon the
achievement of a number
of key strategic
objectives tailored to the
individual executive

Maximum payment can
only be earned as a result
of performance above
budgeted levels

No bonus is earned
unless a threshold level
of financial performance
is delivered

The metrics remain as per
2012/13 save for:

1. The profit targets
applicable to the MD,
Home Shopping are
62.5% (i.e. 50% of
salary) based on the
profit performance of
Express Gifts and
Kleeneze and 37.5%
(i.e. 30% of salary)
based on group profit
performance. This
balance of metrics is
considered to better
reflect his
responsibilities within
the overall group

2. The introduction of
clawback provisions to
the bonus
arrangements

Performance Share Plan (“PSP”)

To incentivise and
reward for the
achievement of
long-term targets
which support the
business strategy

Aligns Executives’
interests with
those of
shareholders

Approved by shareholders
at the 2006 AGM

Annual grant of share-
based awards which are
subject to performance
conditions and vest over a
three-year period

From 2012/13 onwards
clawback provisions that
enable the Committee to
clawback any vesting that
takes place as a result of
performance that is later
the subject of a
restatement of the
company’s results within a
two-year period

150% of salary

(200% of salary
in exceptional
circumstances
such as
recruitment)

The performance metrics
chosen and the range of
targets will reflect the
company’s key
performance indicators
and internal planning

With regards to the
2013/14 long-term
incentive awards, the
Remuneration Committee
is currently in the process
of finalising the details of
these awards which will
be disclosed in next year’s
Implementation Report
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Purpose and Link
to Strategy

Operation
2013/14
Maximum

2013/14
Performance Metrics

2013/14
Application of Policy

Chief Executive’s Special Long-Term Incentive Award

Granted to the
CEO to align him
with the
successful
delivery of the
company’s Full
Potential
turnaround
strategy

Approved by shareholders at the
general meeting on 28 February 2011

A one-off award to Mr Siddle of
1,138,381* shares subject to
performance conditions and
conditional on Mr Siddle making an
investment in the company’s shares
to the value of £400,000 and
retaining those shares

The award is subject to continued
employment until 31 March 2014.
Half of the award may vest on
31 March 2014, with the remaining
half vesting on 31 March 2015

The award is subject to challenging
absolute share price targets that are
based on a three month average to
31 March 2014. The range of targets
are as follows†:

Below 270p – 0% vests

270p – 30% vests

360p – 50% vests

440p – 75% vests

482p – 100% vests

Straight-line vesting between
performance points

A financial underpin also applies that
requires adjusted earnings per share
for the financial year ending
31 March 2014 is at least 17.4p

N/A N/A N/A

Share ownership Guidelines

To provide a
continued focus
on long-term value
creation and to
further align
executives’ and
shareholders’
interests

At the same time as introducing the
PSP the Remuneration Committee
introduced share ownership
guidelines

Executive directors are expected to
retain no fewer than 50% of any
shares delivered under the PSP net
of taxes until such time as a
shareholding equivalent to 100% of
their base salary has been achieved

N/A N/A The share ownership
guidelines remain as per
2012/13
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* The number of shares comprising the award was adjusted to reflect the share consolidation that became effective on 9 April
2013. The adjustment resulted in the number of shares comprising the award being reduced by a factor of 20 which reflected the
terms of the share consolidation.

† The share price targets were adjusted to ensure that the targets remained equally challenging in light of the share consolidation
that became effective on 9 April 2013. The adjustment resulted in the share price targets being increased by a factor of 20 in light
of the share consolidation which reduced the number of shares in issue by a factor of 20.

How Executive Directors’ remuneration policy relates to the wider group
The remuneration policy described in the policy table provides an overview of the structure that operates for executive directors.

Outside the executive director population, different structures apply that take due account of the company’s overall remuneration
policy, the specific objectives of individual’s roles and practice in companies of comparable size.

Base salaries for all employees are set by reference to internal relativities and, where appropriate, country or industry specific
comparator groups. Consideration is given to the overall salary increase budget and general employment conditions, when setting
Executive Director base salaries.

The performance-related bonus scheme operates with targets and quantum that are set by reference to individual role and
responsibility. More emphasis on divisional performance and/or personal performance is included at less senior levels.

The PSP is offered on a discretionary annual basis to senior executives. Awards are limited to this grade of employees as they are
anticipated as having the most potential to influence performance at a group level. These awards are generally subject to the same
performance conditions as detailed in the remuneration policy table.

How shareholders views are taken into account
After the AGM, the Remuneration Committee will consider feedback from shareholders and guidance from shareholder
representative bodies more generally. The Committee will also seek feedback from shareholders from time to time as part of a
wider consultation exercise if required. This feedback is then considered as part of the Committee’s ongoing review of remuneration
policy.

No significant issues with the remuneration policy were raised by shareholders in 2012/13.

Policy for New Hires and Exits

New
Appointments

The remuneration package will be set by reference to the experience of the individual, taking into account
relevant market data and internal relativities. If a new recruitment has a below market salary set on
appointment, they may experience phased multi-period increases in excess of other directors to bring them
into line with the market as they develop in the role, subject to continued performance in post.

Service contracts It is the Remuneration Committee’s policy that service agreements for executive directors should be
terminable on not more than 12 months’ notice which is in line with current market practice. Contracts do
not include liquidated damages clauses and it is the Remuneration Committee‘s policy for new contracts
not to provide enhanced protection in relation to contractual terms on a change of control. In the event of
early termination of a service agreement, the Remuneration Committee would consider appropriate use of
mitigation and phased compensation payments where possible.

www.findel.co.uk 33

Governance
O
V
E
R
V
IE
W

1
—

5
B
U
S
IN

E
S
S

R
E
V
IE
W

6
—

1
9

G
O

V
E

R
N

A
N

C
E

2
0
—

4
5

F
IN

A
N
C
IA

L
S
TA

T
E
M
E
N
T
S

4
6
—

9
4



Detailed Remuneration Policy Report (Unaudited information)

Performance related bonus
As detailed above, executive directors each receive the opportunity to achieve an annual performance related bonus of up to 100%
of basic salary in line with market practice in companies of a comparable size and complexity.

Reflecting the company’s focus on delivering profitable organic growth and a turnaround in the company’s business performance,
the metrics used for bonus purposes are a blend of profit and strategic targets that are fully aligned with the company’s key
performance indicators identified for the year ahead and the individual responsibilities of each director. The targets are set at levels
which are challenging in relation to budgets and take due account of the current economic environment. Financial targets are set as
a sliding scale between threshold and maximum performance levels. No bonus is earned in relation to the strategic targets unless a
predetermined financial threshold is achieved.

In respect of the Managing Director, Home Shopping his financial targets have been set relating part to the profit performance of
Express Gifts and Kleeneze (62.5% of this part of the bonus) and part relating to group profit performance (37.5% of this part of the
bonus). This approach is considered to better reflect the individual’s responsibilities within the group with the targets relating to
Home Shopping and Kleeneze having been set to be similarly challenging to the group profit targets and structured on a sliding
scale.

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
The Remuneration Committee reviews the long-term incentives offered to executive directors on an ongoing basis to ensure they
remain appropriate given the current needs of the business and after taking due account of best practice investor guidelines.

The PSP was approved by shareholders at the 2006 annual general meeting and is the sole long-term incentive arrangement offered
to executive directors (with the exception of the Special Award granted to the chief executive during FY2010/11 which is described
on page 32).

Awards FY13/14
It is the Remuneration Committee’s intention to make awards during the current year. Since the terms of these awards are in the
process of being finalised, they will be disclosed in next year’s Implementation Report.

It is the case, however, that the FY13/14 awards will include clawback provisions that will enable the Remuneration Committee to
clawback any vesting that takes place as a result of performance that is later the subject of a restatement of the company’s results
within a two-year period relating to events taking place post 30 March 2012.

Service Contracts & External Appointments

Executive Directors
The terms of the executive directors’ service contracts are fully consistent with the policy set out in the table above.

The executive directors’ contracts (Mr Maudsley dated 6 October 1997; Mr Kowalski dated 2 October 2010; and Mr Siddle dated
25 January 2011) are subject to one year’s rolling notice by either party, contain no provision for compensation to be payable on
early termination (other than payment in lieu of notice at the company’s option in the case of Mr Siddle limited to 12 months’ basic
salary and in the case of Mr Kowalski limited to 12 months’ basic salary and benefits) and, in determining any compensation payable
on early termination, the Remuneration Committee would seek to ensure that full account was taken of the director’s duty of
mitigation.

Outside appointments
The company currently allows the executive directors to undertake outside interests and appointments, subject to the prior approval
of the board, in which instances they are allowed to retain any fees that they receive in respect of such activities. There were no
such arrangements in place during the period under review.

Non-Executive Directors
The board as a whole is responsible for setting the level of remuneration for non-executive directors.

The board’s policy is to pay cash fees at a level commensurate with companies of an equivalent size and complexity, with fees set
at a level which recognises the anticipated time commitment of fulfilling the relevant non-executive’s duties. No variable
remuneration is offered to Non-Executive Directors

Mr Sugden’s contract as chairman, dated 8 June 2012, is subject to 6 months’ notice from either party. Save for any payment of
fees in lieu of notice, there is no entitlement to compensation for loss of office in connection with the termination of the services
of Mr Sugden.

The appointment of non-executive directors is for an initial period of three years, subject to review and re-election at General
Meeting. They do not have service agreements.
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The Letter of Appointment for Mr Hawker was dated 28 June 2006; for Mr McKay was dated 22 June 2007 (until he left the board
following the 2012 AGM); for Mr Tracey was dated 11 November 2009; for Mrs Powers-Freeling was dated 23 September 2010;
and for Mr Grimsey was 30 January 2012.

Mr Tracey’s letter of appointment entitles him to 3 months’ notice of termination. The letters of appointment of the other
non-executive directors are terminable at will. Save for any payment of fees in lieu of notice to Mr Tracey there is no entitlement
to compensation for loss of office in connection with the termination of the services of the non-executive directors.

Implementation Report

Remuneration Committee
Remuneration of the executive directors and the chairman is determined by the Remuneration Committee.

The members of the Remuneration Committee are all independent non-executive directors, Mr M L Hawker (chairman), Mr E F Tracey,
Mr S S McKay (until he left the board at the 2012 AGM), Mrs L C Powers-Freeling and Mr W Grimsey. No member of the Remuneration
Committee has any personal financial interest, other than as a shareholder, in the matters to be decided, nor any potential conflict of
interest arising from cross-directorships, nor any day-to-day involvement in running the business throughout the period.

The chairman of the company normally attends meetings of the Remuneration Committee by invitation except when matters
concerning his own remuneration are discussed. The Remuneration Committee is assisted when required by New Bridge Street
(a trading name of AON plc) who are appointed by the Remuneration Committee. Apart from providing advice in respect of the
design, establishment and operation of remuneration arrangements, New Bridge Street provides no other services to the company.

During the year under review the Committee conducted a competitive retendering for the position of advisors. As a result of this
retendering exercise the Committee reappointed New Bridge Street as its advisors on an ongoing basis. The Group HR Director also
provided advice to the Committee during the year. The company secretary acts as the secretary to the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets two or more times a year and met seven times in 2012/13. Individual attendance details can
be found within the Corporate Governance Report. The Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference are available on the
company’s website (www.findel.co.uk); its responsibilities include:

� determining the specific remuneration of each of the executive directors, the chairman and the terms of their service
agreements (including in particular, the term and any notice period);

� advising on and monitoring all performance-related formulae;

� administering all aspects of the share-based incentive schemes operated by the company from time to time, including the
overview of award levels made outside of the executive director population;

� reviewing on a continuing basis the company’s policy on executive remuneration;

� having regard, in the performance of the above duties, to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the recommendations set out in
the UK Corporate Governance Code and any other published guidelines or recommendations regarding the remuneration of
directors of listed companies which the Remuneration Committee considers relevant or appropriate;

� considering and making recommendations to the board concerning disclosure of details of remuneration packages and
structures in addition to those required by law or by the UK Listing Authority or the London Stock Exchange; and

� considering such other matters as may be requested by the board.

Shareholder Voting at the 2012 AGM
At last year’s AGM, the Directors’ Remuneration Report received the following votes from shareholders:

Total number of votes % of votes cast

For 1,343,059,205 99.44%
Against 7,598,672 0.56%

Total votes cast (for and against) 1,350,657,877 100%

Withheld votes 12,092,793 N/A

Total votes cast (including a withheld votes) 1,362,750,670 N/A
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Performance Graph
The following graph contrasts the total shareholder return of the company (calculated in accordance with the Large and Medium
Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations) with the FTSE Small Cap Index and FTSE All Share General
Retailers Index. These indices were selected as being, in the opinion of the Remuneration Committee, the most appropriate for
comparison because Findel is currently a constituent member of each.

Audited Information
The information set out in the following section of the report is subject to audit.

Emoluments of the directors
The emoluments of the directors in the period ended 29 March 2013 are shown below:

Salary/fees Annual Pension Benefits Termination 2013 2012
bonus contributions/ in kind/cash payments Total Total

cash allowances
allowances

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Current directors
Chairman
D A Sugden 150 — — — — 150 150

Executive
R W J Siddle 400 249 80 16 — 745 496
T J Kowalski 272 176 41 24 — 513 324
P B Maudsley 350 218 83 23 — 674 488

Non-executive
E F Tracey 57 — — — — 57 57
M L Hawker 48 — — — — 48 48
L C Powers-Freeling 38 — — — — 38 38
W Grimsey 38 — — — — 38 3

Sub Total 1,353 643 204 63 — 2,263 1,604

Previous directors
S S McKay 13 — — — — 13 38

Sub Total — — — — — 13 38

Total 1,366 643 204 63 — 2,276 1,642
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This graph looks at the value, by 29 March 2013, of £100 invested in Findel plc on 31 March 2008 compared
with that of £100 invested in the FTSE Small Cap Index and £100 invested in the FTSE All Share General
Retailers Index on the same date. The other points plotted are the values at intervening financial year-ends.
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The figures above represent emoluments paid to directors during their tenure in the relevant financial period, with the exception of
annual bonus payments, which relate to bonuses earned in the period under review but paid after the year-end.

Benefits in kind comprise the private use of a motor car (or a cash allowance in its place), fuel, private health insurance and home
telephone costs.

Annual bonus
The annual bonus policy that operated during the period under review was consistent with the group’s policy described previously.

The annual bonus targets were tailored to the key strategic objectives of the business, these being a challenging sliding scale of
annual profit targets (which determined a maximum 80% of the bonus potential) and other specific key strategic objectives (which
determined a maximum of 20% of the bonus potential). No part of the bonus in relation to delivery of key strategic objectives could
be earned unless a threshold level of profit performance was delivered. Maximum payment could only be earned as a result of
performance above budgeted levels. The bonus was earned on an incremental basis between the threshold and maximum
performance levels.

Directors’ pension entitlements
In addition to the pension contributions set out in the table in (i) above, Mr Maudsley is a deferred member of the Findel Group
Pension Fund, a defined benefit scheme. He is the only director who has accrued entitlements under the Fund as follows:

Increase Transfer Accrued Accrued Increase Transfer Transfer Increase
in value of pension pension in value of value of in

accrued increase 29 March 30 March accrued accrued accrued transfer
pension 2013 2012 pension pension pension value

excluding including 29 March 30 March over the
inflation inflation 2013 2012 period

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

— — 129 126 3 1,509 1,402 107

As a deferred member, Mr Maudsley no longer accrues benefits under the defined benefit scheme. However, in line with the
preservation requirements his pension is increased in line with inflation. His defined pension benefits have Enhanced Protection.
Contributions are made by the group on an ongoing basis in relation to meeting the funding requirements of the benefits accrued on
behalf of all pension plan members.

The pension entitlements shown above are those which would be paid annually on retirement based on service to the end of the
period, but exclude any future statutory entitlement to increases, up to retirement. The transfer values have been calculated on the
basis of actuarial advice in accordance with the relevant regulations.

The transfer values disclosed above do not represent a sum paid or payable to the individual director. Instead they represent a
potential liability of the pension scheme. The non-executive directors do not receive pension benefits.

Directors’ Share Options and Long-term Incentive Plans
Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of awards of ordinary shares in the company
under the Performance Share Plan and the Special Award granted to Roger Siddle.

Awards in FY2012/13
The Committee resumed PSP awards to Mr Kowalski and Mr Maudsley during 2012/13.

The number of awards were broadly equivalent to those issued to each of them in March 2011, in the case of Mr Maudsley
pro rated down to reflect his current salary level. The award levels were set after taking due account of the share price at the time,
the company’s dilution position and the performance targets to apply to the awards (see below).

Executive Number of shares Face/Maximum value of % of Award vesting at Performance period
comprising award† awards at grant date threshold

(% of salary)*

T J Kowalski 225,819 £154,460 (58%) 20% 31.03.12 – 31.03.15
P B Maudsley 272,755 £186,565 (53%) 20% 31.03.12 – 31.03.15

* The closing share price from the day prior to the awards being granted has been used to determine the maximum face value of
the awards. This was 3.42p on 18 June 2012 (equivalent to 68.4p post the share consolidation).

† The number of shares comprising awards were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation that became effective on 9 April 2013.
The adjustment resulted in the number of shares comprising awards being reduced by a factor of 20 which reflected the terms of
the share consolidation.

To ensure that a clear focus is retained on delivering the company’s forward planning objectives at the same time as taking due
account of current economic conditions, the followin`g range of targets were applied to the awards:
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Absolute share price targets
Findel’s Share Price
(three month average to 31 March 2015) Percentage vesting

Below 250p 0%
250p 20%
320p 60%
440p 100%

Straight-line vesting between performance points

The above targets are those operating following an adjustment to ensure that they remained equally challenging in light of the share
consolidation that became effective on 9 April 2013. The adjustment resulted in the share price targets (disclosed in last year’s
Directors’ Remuneration Report) being increased by a factor of 20 in light of the share consolidation which reduced the number of
shares in issue by a factor of 20.

Financial underpin
Vesting based on performance against the above share price targets will only take place to the extent that the Remuneration
Committee is satisfied that the share price performance reflects the underlying performance of the group. Adjusted earnings per
share for the financial year ending 31 March 2015 must also be at least 18.4p (with this number also having been adjusted,
increased by a factor of 20, to ensure it remained equally challenging following the impact of the share consolidation detailed above).

The above targets were considered appropriate by the Remuneration Committee given (i) the indications previously given to
shareholders (ii) the general deterioration in economic conditions that had taken place since the company’s successful restructuring
of its balance sheet in March 2011 (iii) the share price prevailing at the time of setting the awards (iv) the lower award multiples
being granted vis-à-vis those granted in FY10/11 which took into account the lower share price at the time and (v) the need to set
realistic but challenging targets.

Details of all directors’ outstanding interests in shares under the Performance Share Plan
(Adjusted to reflect the share consolidation that became effective on 9 April 2013. The adjustment resulted in the number of shares
comprising each original award being reduced by a factor of 20 which reflected the terms of the share consolidation.)

30 March 2012 Granted Exercised Lapsed 29 March 2013 Award date Vesting date

R W J Siddle† 1,761,821 — — — 1,761,821 22 Mar 2011 31 Mar 2014/31 Mar 2015
T J Kowalski 225,819 — — — 225,819 3 Aug 2010 31 Mar 2014

97,412 — — — 97,412 22 Mar 2011 31 Mar 2014
— 225,819 — — 225,819 19 Jun 2012 19 Jun 2015

P B Maudsley 32,634 — — 32,634 32,634 3 Sep 2009 3 Sep 2012
43,321 — — 43,321 — 8 Jan 2010 8 Jan 2013
45,298 — — 45,298 — 29 Jan 2010 29 Jan 2013

490,960 — — — 490,960 22 Mar 2011 31 Mar 2014
272,755 — — 272,755 19 Jun 2012 19 Jun 2015

† Mr Siddle’s interests in shares include the Special Award outside the performance share plan, as described on page 32.

Summary of awards granted in prior years
With regard to the other outstanding awards as at 29 March 2013, the awards granted in August 2010 and March 2011 are subject
to the share price and financial targets. In summary the absolute share price targets ranged from 13.5p (now 270p following
adjustment on the basis described earlier to take account of the share consolidation that became effective on 9 April 2013) to 22p
(now 440p), with a financial underpin of adjusted earnings per share for the financial year ending 31 March 2014 of at least 0.87p
(calculated on a consistent basis to take account of the refinancing) (now 17.4p).

The Special Award granted to Roger Siddle (March 2011 and detailed on page 32) has similar performance conditions to the PSP
awards granted in August 2010 and March 2011, but with a more demanding maximum share price target. This means the absolute
share price targets range from 13.5p (now 270p) to 24.1p (now 482p) with the same financial underpin as the PSP awards.

The awards granted in the period ended 2 April 2010 were subject to 50% benchmark earnings per share (EPS) growth targets and
50% relative total shareholder return (TSR) performance targets measured against the constituents of the FTSE Small Cap. Under
the EPS element, EPS growth of RPI+10% was required for 30% of this part of an award to vest, rising to full vesting for EPS
growth of RPI+21%. Under the TSR element, median performance was required for 30% of this part of an award to vest, rising to
full vesting for upper quartile performance. These awards did not meet their performance conditions and have now lapsed as
highlighted in the table above.

The Remuneration Committee’s policy in relation to determining vesting of performance share plan awards, is to retain independent
consultants to test TSR and share price targets and to consider the company’s audited results in respect of financial targets (with
appropriate liaison between the Audit and Remuneration Committees).
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The non-executive directors do not participate in any share plans operated by the company.

Directors’ interests
The beneficial interests of the directors, together with non-beneficial interests, in the ordinary shares of the company are shown
below (the interests in shares have been stated based on the equivalent post consolidation number at each reporting date).

PSP Awards
Beneficially (including Special Award

Legally Owned to Roger Siddle) Total
29.03.13 30.03.12 Unvested Vested 29.03.13

Executive Directors
R W Siddle 354,024 354,024 1,761,821 N/A 2,115,845
T J Kowalski 64,915 64,915 549,050 N/A 613,965
P B Maudsley 213,262 213,262 763,715 N/A 976,977

Non-executive Directors
D A Sugden 104,308 104,308 — — 104,308
W Grimsey 25,000 25,000 — — 25,000
M L Hawker 19,808 19,808 — — 19,808
L C Powers-Freeling 14,654 14,654 — — 14,654
E F Tracey 20,473 20,473 — — 20,473

There have been no changes in the above interests since 29 March 2013.

Company Share Price
The market price of the ordinary shares at 29 March 2013, being the last day of stock market trading before the period end, was
6.50p (now 130p following adjustment on the basis described earlier to take account of the share consolidation that became
effective on 9 April 2013) and the range during the period was 2.76p (now 55.2p) up to 9.30p (now 186p).

On behalf of the board

Mike Hawker
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

4 June 2013
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The group recognises that it can only continue to be successful if it continues to perform in the area of Corporate Social
Responsibility. In addition to compliance with all relevant legislation, the group remains committed to improvement in all its
interactions with employees, customers, suppliers and the wider community.

Our People
The group appreciates the fundamental role played by all our employees in our success.

The ‘People Proud’ initiative introduced across the group ensures a system is in place for the setting of objectives, monitoring of
performance and determination of development needs for all staff. The group-wide approach ensures consistency and allows all
employees to understand their contribution to the group objectives.

Wherever the needs of the business allow, our divisions offer flexible working solutions which help to maintain a balance between
work and commitments outside of the workplace. Kitbag have reduced its weekend working to just peak periods. We also continue
to offer tax-efficient childcare vouchers in lieu of salary.

With the exception of a few members of staff in Asia, the group is a UK based employer. Many of our sites are in multi-cultural
areas of the UK and we operate a fair, equal opportunities employment culture which embraces multi-culturalism, equality and
diversity. The needs of specific groups are identified and addressed with, for example, prayer facilities and employee information
in foreign languages where appropriate.

Several employee benefit schemes exist which offer retail discounts and vouchers, and gym membership schemes and NHS
checks for the over 40’s, promoting health and wellbeing.

Our Education division has delivered an average of two days of training to each of its employees in the year and offers NVQs in
conjunction with Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce and Oldham College. They have also ensured that all members of
staff who come into contact with vulnerable customers are CRB checked.

Kitbag have this year appointed a dedicated HR Manager who has rolled out the People Proud agenda and helped conduct a staff
survey (View from the Terraces) which has led to the formation of a project team to concentrate on improved communication and
enhancement of the working environment.

Health and Safety
The group has a comprehensive structure to assess, monitor and mitigate health and safety risk within the business. The health and
safety policies and procedures are available to all employees via the divisional intranets.

The focus on health and safety has seen a fall in the number of incidents by 6% over the last year and 54% over the last five years.
Due to the change in the classification of RIDDOR incidents (Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences
Regulations), it is not possible to compare these year on year but the group had only 12 RIDDOR incidents in the year.

All areas of the business operate a twelve month rolling risk assessment programme run by a qualified Health and Safety
professional. This approach allows for greater focus on individual areas of health and safety. Each site receives several inspections
during the year.

A major health and safety improvement in the year has been a complete replacement of the sprinkler system in a significant area
of Express Gift’s main site in Accrington.

Our Products and Customers
The group sells a range of over 100,000 stock lines across an extensive range of categories. Our suppliers are similarly diverse from
individual factories to large multinational companies. Product safety and quality has to be at the forefront when selecting any
product for our range. Appropriate safety certification is obtained (backed by independent third party testing where necessary) and
each division has a team dedicated to maintaining these standards.

Our Hong Kong office has been sourcing product for group companies and third parties for over 30 years and has this year
appointed a Quality Manager to ensure the ongoing quality of our products. In addition, they continue to improve upon their position
on Ethical Audit. 82% of all the suppliers they deal with have recognised accredited certification and they are working to resource or
replace all non-compliant factories.

Within our Home Shopping division, various products in our household and children’s furniture ranges are procured from FSC and
sustainable sources, whilst within Education all products are assessed for quality including REACH, ROHS, FSC and EU timber
regulations compliance.

Kleeneze continued to demonstrate improved product quality with returns reduced by a further 6.5% this year, showing a total
reduction of in excess of 20% in the last two years. They have also managed to reduce customer call times from 3.7 to
3.1 minutes.

Kitbag have worked on better customer communication, improving call answering times to less than 15 seconds and utilising Live
Chat and social media such as Facebook and Twitter for better communication.

Corporate Social Responsibility
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The Environment
As a business predominantly operating within mail order and e-commerce, the group environmental impact is predominantly through
utility consumption and our use and disposal of paper and packaging, although as a non-manufacturing company, our emissions
remain relatively low.

We have calculated our carbon footprint in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Standard issued by the World
Business Council for Sustainable Development. Through consolidation of warehousing and energy management initiatives we have,
over the last five years, reduced our overall Scope 1 and 2 emissions from 16,724 tonnes to 8,731 tonnes. This has resulted in a
reduction of 50.4% in Kg of CO2 per £1,000 of sales.

The high number of relatively low value despatches in our businesses continues to make it economically and environmentally
efficient to use third party carriers to transport product to our customers. Prior to appointment and on a regular basis thereafter, we
ask our third party carriers to demonstrate their environmental credentials. The Kleeneze distribution supplier has demonstrated a
reduction in emissions though investment in new technology and environmentally friendly new depots, a reduction in diesel
consumption and an increase in recycling performance.

Each of our businesses continues to supply its customers with the information necessary to make informed environmental choices.
This includes the identification in our catalogues of products made from renewable or recycled materials and the energy ratings of
our white goods. Our Education division continues to increase its range of eco friendly products which now includes products made
from recycled paper, Fairtrade, energy efficiency A rated appliances, environmentally friendly products and lower carbon footprint
UK-sourced products..

All sites within Findel Education have now achieved ISO14001 accreditation, an internationally recognised standard for
environmental management which ensures each location has a fully compliant Environmental Management System.

Kleeneze has chosen smaller venues for its national conferences and introduced conference streaming to reduce the impact of
travelling to a single destination and this has been supplemented by holding a number of more local events.

Energy
The group’s major use of energy continues to be the heating and lighting of buildings, powered conveying equipment and in our
vehicle fleet. The more efficient use of space combined with energy management initiatives have seen a reduction of total energy
consumption in our buildings of 50.2% over the last five years.

We continue to use a green energy product for the majority of supply which is Climate Change Levy exempt which reflects its
lower emissions and sustainability.

Energy efficiency is always a material consideration when procuring vehicles, equipment or services. Our major sites all benefit from
centralised control of heating and ventilation systems and are subject to regular monitoring to ensure they are operating as
efficiently as possible. Kitbag have installed energy saving lighting in various areas of its business and have procured more energy-
efficient photocopiers and printers.

The group Company Car Policy focuses on low carbon emission vehicles with a maximum CO2 of 160 g/km permitted although
most vehicles are substantially below this. The policy also requires a number of vehicle safety features as standard.

Paper
The tonnage of paper used in our catalogues and brochures last year reduced by 2% from 13,725 tonnes to 13,478 tonnes.
However this is mainly attributable to a reduction within Findel Education of 38% of paper usage.

All paper used for printing by our Home Shopping division and now 97% of that used by Findel Education – an increase of 7% year
on year – is manufactured at mills which have Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification (PEFC) chain of custody
certification.

Kleeneze continues to look for ways to minimise the amount of paper it uses and 96% of its distributors register online, an increase
against 85% in the previous year.

Packaging
The group are constantly seeking innovative ways to minimise the level of packaging used, whilst ensuring that products are
received by our customers undamaged. We also actively seek out opportunities with suppliers to reduce packaging.

This year Findel Education have undertaken a review of transit cartons following customer feedback on sizing. This review
determined that the only way to minimise carton size was to produce a bespoke carton for each customer order. The integration of
the ‘Right Size’ solution into the packaging process now sees every customer order packed into a carton tailored to each shipping
cube.



Consequently the average box size has reduced from 64 to 26 litres resulting in a 45% reduction in the amount of cardboard used.
Together with our partner Packsize, the project has won the Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport Environmental
Improvement Award, The Green Apple Awards for Environmental Best Practice and The Green Business Awards – Green Product or
Service Award, together with being a finalist in both the European Supply Chain Excellence Awards and the UK Packaging Awards.

The full benefit of this will be seen in the coming year although across the group we saw a rise in overall packaging consistent with
the increased turnover and low levels achieved by previous initiatives.

Waste
Since the appointment of Vale Waste Management as Express Gifts’ waste management partner in May 2012, all Express Gifts,
Kleeneze and the Kitbag head offices/warehouses have been Zero to Landfill sites. During the eleven month period from the start of
May 2012 to the end of March 2013, 1,776 tonnes of waste was collected. 78% of this was recycled – a further increase on last
year’s figure – and 22% was recovered via an Energy From Waste (EFW) plant.

Findel Education have achieved a Zero to Landfill standard at its largest site in Nottingham and are working towards its objective of
this standard across its remaining two sites.

Community Support
Once again, the company and its employees continue to support a number of local and national charities, together with local
communities and organisations close to our various bases of operation.

Kleeneze and its distributors raised in excess of £100,000 from Macmillan Coffee Morning, clearance sales and a sponsored cycle
ride from Lands End to John O’Groats.

As reported last year, Findel Education worked closely with the NSPCC in supporting their Childline School Service Initiative,
donating 50p for every primary school order, with a final donation of £23,000.

They also partnered with a local school to offer support and guidance under the Business in the Community scheme and since 2010
have been a Trustee to Sale Grammar School. The Findel Education Managing Director, Tony Hillyer, continues to sit as a trustee on
the board of Tameside Sport Trust.

Kitbag have continued their product donation to both Oxfam and Barnados and additionally have provided clothing to local scout
groups. Andy Anson, the Kitbag CEO, is also a patron of the local youth organisation, Mahdlo.

Corporate Social Responsibility
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The Audit Committee was reconstituted during the year as the Audit & Risk Committee with expanded written terms of reference,
which were reviewed during the period and are available on the company’s website (www.findel.co.uk). The principal changes relate
to reviewing and monitoring internal controls and risk management and updating its remit relating to the monitoring of the group’s
procedures relating to whistleblowing and the prevention of fraud and bribery. The Committee is comprised of only independent
non-executive directors and is chaired by Mr Tracey.

The Audit & Risk Committee meets at least three times a year and is comprised of only independent non-executive directors.
Mr Tracey chairs the committee. During the year Mr Hawker joined the committee and Mr McKay retired. The committee, taken
as a whole, is considered to have significant recent and relevant financial experience. The expertise and experience of the members
of the committee are summarised on page 20. The executive directors and the chairman attend meetings by invitation as do the
internal and external auditors, divisional finance directors and other divisional executives, and during the year the committee also
met with the internal and external auditors without management present and with management without the auditors present.

The external auditors attended four of the five meetings held during the year (including the meetings which reviewed the annual
and interim financial statements) and have direct access to and met with the committee chairman. The chairman of the committee
attends the annual general meeting to respond to any shareholder questions that might be raised on the committee’s activities.

The committee has the power to engage outside advisers if it considers it to be necessary.

The committee’s agenda is linked to events in the company’s financial calendar. The agenda is mostly cyclical and the committee
chairman approves the agenda on behalf of all members. Each member may require reports on matters of interest in addition to the
regular items.

In addition to this cyclical work the committee has continued to focus its attention on reviews and improvement plans relating to
internal financial and business controls within the Kitbag business and relating to the group’s IT systems controls. These areas had
been identified by both executive management and the external auditors as key areas of control risk. The committee continues to
monitor the programme of systems and controls changes.

A further area of significant work has been the continuing overview of purchase protection insurance complaint handling within
Express Gifts: during the year our Financial Services Compliance Committee has formalised its structure and has taken external
advice where appropriate. It now reports to the Audit & Risk Committee formally at least twice a year and the chairman of the audit
committee is invited to all meetings and is copied in on all agendas and minutes.

The Committee also reviewed the scope and role of internal audit in the group and adopted a wider remit for the in-house head of
Internal Audit together with an appropriate co-sourcing of specialised internal audit services in the areas of financial services and IT.

During the year the committee has also recommended to the board the adoption of an Anti Bribery & Corruption Policy and
a revised Foreign Exchange Hedging Policy. Both were adopted by the board. The committee also reviewed the workings of the
group’s Whistleblowing Policy and made recommendations to further enhance the level of awareness of the policy. The committee
has also completed its annual evaluation, based on self and peer assessment, and has an action plan to implement improvements
in its effectiveness.

The most significant issues considered by the Committee in relation to the financial statements this year included the items
disclosed as exceptional charges, including the level of PPI redress provisioning, and related disclosures, the treatment of
discontinued operations, supplier rebates, taxation, pensions, the going concern assessment and review of asset carrying values,
and the overall level of prudence of the accounts. The controls surrounding the use of spreadsheets and the manual controls to
counter systems weaknesses at Kitbag also received due attention.

The board is aware of the need to maintain an appropriate degree of independence and objectivity on the part of the group external
auditors when engaged in non-audit assignments. The Audit & Risk Committee reviews annually the independence of the external
auditors and the safeguards that they have in place, including partner and staff rotation to avoid such independence and objectivity
being compromised. Since the year end the Audit & Risk Committee has reviewed and re-confirmed its policy and control processes
regarding the use of the auditors for non–audit work, which is summarised below.

The group policy on the provision by the external auditors of audit and non-audit services, which is based on the principle that the
external auditors should only undertake non-audit services where they are the most appropriate provider, categorises such services
between:

� Auditor permitted services – Those services which are acceptable for the auditors to provide and the provision of which
can be engaged without referral to the Audit & Risk Committee (e.g. regulatory and other specialist financial reporting);

� Auditor excluded services – Those engagements that the Audit & Risk Committee and the board do not consider appropriate
for the auditors to undertake (e.g. provision of outsourced financial or operational management functions);

� Auditor authorised services – Those services for which it is appropriate to consider the use of the external auditors and for
which the specific approval of the Audit & Risk Committee is required before the auditors are permitted to provide the service
(e.g. transaction support and advisory work, such as financial due diligence).
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The policy defines the types of services falling under each category and sets out the criteria to be met and the internal approvals
required prior to the commencement of any assignment, including the approval of the chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee
where appropriate. The Audit & Risk Committee reviews an analysis of all services provided by the external auditors. The policy
is reviewed annually by the Audit & Risk Committee and approved by the board.

The disclosure of the fees payable to KPMG Audit Plc for both audit and non-audit services performed during the year is set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. A breakdown of the non-audit fees is included in the same note. The Audit & Risk
Committee is satisfied with the level of fees, independence, objectivity and effectiveness of KPMG Audit Plc.

KPMG Audit Plc has informed the company that for administrative reasons and to instigate an orderly wind down of business they
wish to formally change the entity which conducts the company’s audit from KPMG Audit Plc to KPMG LLP. KPMG Audit Plc has
indicated that it will not stand for reappointment at the annual general meeting. The Audit & Risk Committee has recommended
to the board that a resolution be put to the annual general meeting proposing to appoint KPMG LLP as auditors of the company.
This recommendation has been accepted by the board.

Risk Management and Internal Control
The Audit & Risk Committee has responsibility for the regular review of the group’s system of internal control and its effectiveness.
The Audit & Risk Committee reports its findings to the board. It is the role of management to implement the board’s policies on risk
and control through the design and operation of appropriate internal control systems. Operating management is charged with the
ongoing responsibility for identifying risks facing each of the operating units and for putting in place procedures to mitigate, manage
and monitor risks. The risk and control identification and management process is monitored and periodically reviewed by group
executive management and the Audit & Risk Committee. The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failing to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The board has conducted its annual review of the effectiveness of the group’s system of internal control. This review has covered
all controls including operational, compliance and risk management procedures, as well as financial. The formal process followed,
and reviewed by the board, to assess the effectiveness of the group’s system of internal control accords with the guidance set out
in the Turnbull Report “Internal Control: Guidance for directors on the Combined Code” and is part of the ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the group.

On behalf of the board

E F Tracey
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee

4 June 2013

Audit & Risk Committee Report
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We have audited the financial statements of Findel plc for the period ended 29 March 2013 set out on pages 46 to 94. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 27, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit,
and to express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

� the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 29 March
2013 and of the group’s profit for the period then ended;

� the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

� the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

� the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and, as regards
the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

� the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2006;

� the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

� the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages 24 to 26 with respect to internal control and risk
management systems in relation to financial reporting processes and about share capital structures is consistent with the
financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

� adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

� the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns; or

� certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

� we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

� the directors’ statement, set out on page 52, in relation to going concern;

� the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 24 to 26 relating to the company’s compliance with the nine
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review; and

� certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on directors’ remuneration.

John Costello (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
St James’ Square, Manchester
M2 6DS

4 June 2013
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Before Exceptional
exceptional items
items and (excluding items
terminated in terminated
operations operations) Total

Notes £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations
Revenue 491,233 — 491,233
Cost of sales (254,481) — (254,481)

Gross profit 236,752 — 236,752

Trading costs 4,6 (214,312) (11,031) (225,343)

Analysis of operating profit/(loss):
– EBITDA 30,273 (10,398) 19,875
– Depreciation and amortisation (7,833) — (7,833)
– Impairment — (633) (633)

Operating profit/(loss) 5 22,440 (11,031) 11,409

Analysis of finance costs:
– Movement on fair value of derivatives — (147) (147)
– Other (15,604) (136) (15,740)

Finance costs 6,9 (15,604) (283) (15,887)

Analysis of income:
– Other 6,097 — 6,097

Finance income 8 6,097 — 6,097

Profit/(loss) before tax 12,933 (11,314) 1,619
Tax (expense)/income 10 (1,757) 2,616 859

Profit/(loss) for the period 11 11,176 (8,698) 2,478

Discontinued operation
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operation, net of tax 6,7 1,468 (163) 1,305

Profit for the year 11 12,644 (8,861) 3,783

Earnings per ordinary share
from continuing operations
Basic 13 0.15p

from discontinued operations
Basic 13 0.08p

total attributable to ordinary shareholders
Basic 13 0.23p

Consolidated Income Statement

52 week period ended 29 March 2013
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Before Exceptional
exceptional items
items and (excluding items
terminated in terminated
operations operations) Total

Notes £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations
Revenue 461,041 — 461,041
Cost of sales (233,838) (2,991) (236,829)

Gross profit 227,203 (2,991) 224,212

Trading costs 4,6 (208,521) (16,294) (224,815)

Analysis of operating profit/(loss):
– EBITDA 26,049 (10,885) 15,164
– Depreciation and amortisation (7,367) — (7,367)
– Impairment — (8,400) (8,400)

Operating profit/(loss) 5 18,682 (19,285) (603)

Analysis of finance costs:
– Movement on fair value of derivatives — (1,057) (1,057)
– Other (16,317) (2,339) (18,656)

Finance costs 6,9 (16,317) (3,396) (19,713)

Analysis of income:
– Other 6,112 — 6,112

Finance income 8 6,112 — 6,112

Profit/(loss) before tax 8,477 (22,681) (14,204)
Tax expense/income 10 7,572 576 8,148

Profit/(loss) for the period 11 16,049 (22,105) (6,056)

Discontinued operation
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operation, net of tax 6,7 1,393 (174) 1,219

Profit for the year 11 17,442 (22,279) (4,837)

Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share
from continuing operations
Basic 13 (0.36)p

from discontinued operations
Basic 13 0.07p

total attributable to ordinary shareholders
Basic 13 (0.29)p

Consolidated Income Statement

52 week period ended 30 March 2012
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2013 2012
£000 £000

Profit/(loss) for the period 3,783 (4,837)
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes (note 33) (10,350) (11,708)
Cash flow hedges (note 29) 126 (129)
Currency translation gain arising on consolidation (note 28) 150 50
Tax relating to components of comprehensive income (note 24) 778 2,810

Total comprehensive (loss) for period (5,513) (13,814)

The total comprehensive (loss) for the period is attributable to the equity shareholders of the parent company Findel plc.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

52 week period ended 29 March 2013
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2013 2012
Notes £000 £000

Non-current assets
Goodwill 14 36,591 38,899
Other intangible assets 15 64,301 65,431
Property, plant and equipment 16 31,329 35,576
Deferred tax assets 24 8,618 9,619
Derivative financial instruments 22 — 20

140,839 149,545

Current assets
Inventories 17 58,896 64,181
Trade and other receivables 18 210,234 207,633
Derivative financial instruments 22 — 1
Cash and cash equivalents 19 27,965 33,099
Current tax assets 387 —
Assets held for sale 7 29,534 —

327,016 304,914

Total assets 467,855 454,459

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 73,717 67,010
Current tax liabilities — 2,469
Provisions 23 4,905 1,571
Liabilities held for sale 7 8,319 —

86,941 71,050

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 21 259,176 263,758
Provisions 23 1,526 2,543
Retirement benefit obligation 33 19,741 12,971

280,443 279,272

Total liabilities 367,384 350,322

Net assets 100,471 104,137

Equity
Share capital 26 125,942 125,942
Capital redemption reserve 27 403 403
Share premium account 27 93,454 93,454
Translation reserve 28 756 606
Hedging reserve 29 (89) (215)
Accumulated losses 30 (119,995) (116,053)

Total equity 100,471 104,137

Approved by the board and authorised for issue on 4 June 2013

R W J Siddle
Directors

T J Kowalski }

Consolidated Balance Sheet

at 29 March 2013
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2013 2012
Notes £000 £000

Profit/(loss) for the period 3,783 (4,837)
Adjustments for:
Income tax 285 (7,311)
Finance income (6,097) (6,112)
Finance costs 15,887 19,713
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,641 7,715
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and software and IT development costs 633 —
Impairment of goodwill — 8,400
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,678 2,257
Share-based payment expense 1,847 1,502
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (36) (212)
Pension contributions less income statement charge (3,150) (3,214)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 23,471 17,901
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,124) 6,501
(Increase) in receivables (13,518) (12,104)
Increase in payables 15,354 4,376
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 2,317 (1,097)

Cash generated from operations 26,500 15,577
Income taxes paid (1,761) (35)
Interest paid (10,117) (10,152)
Exceptional financing costs paid — (799)

Net cash from operating activities 14,622 4,591

Investing activities
Interest received 117 32
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 168 318
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and software and IT development costs (8,259) (6,910)

Net cash used in investing activities (7,974) (6,560)

Financing activities
Repayments of obligations under finance leases — (5)
Bank loans (repaid)/drawn (11,928) 4,017
Securitisation loan drawn 6,163 5,456

Net cash from financing activities (5,765) 9,468

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 883 7,499
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 33,099 25,582
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 41 18

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 34,023 33,099

The split of cash between continuing operations and assets held for sale is as follows:
2013 2012
£000 £000

Attributable to continuing operations 27,965 33,099
Classified as held for sale 6,058 —

34,023 33,099

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

52 week period ended 29 March 2013
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Retained
Capital Share earnings/

Share redemption premium Translation Hedging (accumulated Total
capital reserve account reserve reserve losses) equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

As at 1 April 2011 125,942 403 93,454 556 (86) (103,820) 116,449
Total comprehensive loss
for the period — — — 50 (129) (13,735) (13,814)
Share-based payments — — — — — 1,502 1,502

As at 30 March 2012 125,942 403 93,454 606 (215) (116,053) 104,137
Total comprehensive loss
for the period — — — 150 126 (5,789) (5,513)
Share-based payments — — — — — 1,847 1,847

At 29 March 2013 125,942 403 93,454 756 (89) (119,995) 100,471

The total equity is attributable to the equity shareholders of the parent company Findel plc.

In the 2012 annual report and accounts, the merger reserve, own shares and liability for share-based payments were disclosed
separately. These have now been aggregated within accumulated losses.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

52 week period ended 29 March 2013
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1 General information and accounting policies
Findel plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office
is given on page 20. The nature of the group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the Directors’ Report, and in the
Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Review, the Business Review and the Finance Director’s Review on pages 2 to 19.

These financial statements are presented in sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the group operates. Foreign operations are included in accordance with the accounting policies set out below.

Accounting standards not yet effective
The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
became effective during the period, but have no material effect on the group’s financial statements:
� Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
� Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
� IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
� Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
� IFRS 13 Fair “Value Measurements”
� Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of these is expected to have
a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the group.

Income statement presentation

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are items which the directors consider to be significant both individually and in aggregate, and are non-recurring
in nature. These are described in note 6.

Discontinued operations
Discontinued operation relates to the group’s healthcare business (Nottingham Rehab Limited) which was in the process of being
sold at the period end, and meets the criteria to be accounted for as discontinued operation as defined in IFRS 5, “Non-current
assets held for sale and discontinued operations”. Results from discontinued operation have been separated out in the consolidated
income statement to enhance the comparability of the ongoing business, and the assets and liabilities have been classified as held
for sale. Further details are given in note 7.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) adopted for use
in the European Union and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation. The financial statements have been prepared
on the going concern basis as set out below.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments.
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below and have been applied consistently in the current and prior period.

Going concern
In determining whether the group’s financial statements for the period ended 29 March 2013 can be prepared on a going concern
basis, the directors considered all factors likely to affect its future development, performance and its financial position, including
cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities and the risks and uncertainties relating to its business activities in the current
challenging economic climate. The financial position of the group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities and the
key risks and uncertainties are set out in further detail above in the Finance Director’s Review on pages 16 to 19.

The directors have reviewed the trading and cash flow forecasts as part of their going concern assessment, including reasonable
downside sensitivities which take into account the uncertainties in the current operating environment including amongst other
matters demand for the group’s products, its available financing facilities, and movements in interest rates. Although at certain times
the level of headroom reduces to a level which is less than the directors would regard as desirable in the long term, the directors
believe it to be sufficient and have identified controllable mitigating actions that could be implemented if required.

Taking into account the above uncertainties and circumstances, the directors formed a judgement that there is a reasonable
expectation that the company and the group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the group’s annual consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They cease to be consolidated from the
date that the group no longer has control.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated on consolidation.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The financial statements of all subsidiaries are prepared to the same reporting date as the parent company.
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1 General information and accounting policies – continued

Segment reporting
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the internal financial information reported to the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (CODM) who is primarily responsible for the allocation of resources to segments and the assessment of performance of
the segments. The CODM is the board of the company.

The CODM assesses profit performance using operating profit measured on a basis consistent with the disclosure in the group
financial information.

Until the disposal of the Healthcare division on 19 April 2013, the group was organised into six operating segments:

� Express Gifts;

� Kleeneze;

� Kitbag;

� Education Supplies;

� Healthcare; and

� Overseas sourcing.

The Express Gifts operating segment, the Kleeneze operating segment and the Kitbag operating segment are together referred to
as Home Shopping.

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of goods and services to external customers, net of value added tax, rebates,
discounts and returns. Revenue is recognised as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer upon delivery
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. A provision for estimated returns is made, representing the profit on goods
sold during the period which will be returned and refunded after the period end. Revenue is reduced by the value of sales returns
provided for during the period, in addition to rebates payable to customers.

Interest income
Interest income on customer credit accounts is recognised on a time-proportion basis, using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised in respect of non-interest related financial income, delivery charges and parcel insurance. In addition, various
services are provided under the group’s healthcare contracts. Income is recognised when the relevant service has been provided to
the customer.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentational currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the company’s and group’s functional and presentational
currency. Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency).

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. At each balance sheet
date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the exchange rate prevailing at the
balance sheet date. Translation differences on monetary items are taken to the income statement with the exception of differences
on translations that are subject to effective cash flow hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss and are included in either equity or
the income statement as appropriate.

Group companies
The results and financial position of overseas group entities are translated into sterling as follows:

� Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

� Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period;

� All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities are taken to equity.
Tax charges and credits attributable to those exchange differences are taken directly to equity.
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1 General information and accounting policies – continued

Share-based payments
The group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans.

The group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 “Share-based payments”.

The group principally issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are
measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Fair value is usually measured by use of the Stochastic Valuation (aka “Monte-Carlo”) model. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and
behavioural considerations.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are held at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis as follows:

� Freehold properties are depreciated over 50 years;

� Leasehold premises with lease terms of 50 years or less are depreciated over the remaining period of the lease;

� Plant and equipment are depreciated over 3 to 20 years according to the estimated life of the asset;

� Equipment on hire or lease is depreciated over the period of the lease;

� Land is not depreciated.

Software and IT development costs
Expenditure on IT software development is recognised as an internally-generated intangible asset up to the point where the main
projects cease to involve external contractors, and only if all of the following conditions are met:

� an asset is created that can be identified (such as software and new processes);

� it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and

� the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives of three to seven years. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Goodwill
There have been no acquisitions in the current period which would be accounted for under IFRS 3 Revised. For acquisitions between
1 April 2004 and 2 April 2010, goodwill is the excess of the fair value of the consideration payable for an acquisition over the fair
value of the group’s share of identifiable net assets of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture acquired at the date of acquisition. Fair
values are attributed to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that existed at the date of acquisition, reflecting
their condition at that date. Adjustments are made where necessary to bring the accounting policies of acquired businesses into
alignment with those of the group.

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates and joint ventures is
included in the carrying amount of the investment. Goodwill is stated at cost less any impairment. Goodwill is not amortised but is
tested annually for impairment. An impairment charge is recognised for any amount by which the carrying value of goodwill exceeds
its recoverable value.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold, allocated where
necessary on a pro rata basis.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition of a business are capitalised separately from goodwill, if those assets are
separable and their fair value can be measured reliably.

The cost of intangible assets with finite useful economic lives is amortised on a straight-line basis over that period. The carrying
values of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values
may not be recoverable.

Brand names
Legally protected or otherwise separable trade names acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised at fair value on
acquisition. Brand names are assumed to have an indefinite life and are not amortised, but are subject to annual impairment tests.

Customer relationships
Contractual and non-contractual customer relationships acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised at fair value on
acquisition and amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of between 2 and 20 years, representing the directors’ best estimate
of their useful economic lives.
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1 General information and accounting policies – continued

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the group’s balance sheet when the group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
The group’s financial assets are classified as either derivatives or “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments are classified as loans and receivables.
Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be
immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets
Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

� significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

� default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

� it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables includes
the group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the
extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Derecognition of financial assets
The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the group recognises
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Where financial liabilities are extinguished by equity instruments issued the difference between the carrying value of the debt
extinguished and the fair value of the equity instrument issued is recorded in the income statement.
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1 General information and accounting policies – continued

Financial liabilities
The group’s financial liabilities are classified as either derivatives or “other financial liabilities”.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective
yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Derivative financial instruments
On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the group formally documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction
and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The group
makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging
instruments are expected to be “highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged
items attributable to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80 – 125%. For a cash flow
hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in
cash flows that could ultimately affect reported profit or loss.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent
to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as described below.

Cash flow hedges
When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective
portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the hedging
reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
When the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in equity is included in the carrying amount of the asset
when the asset is recognised. In other cases the amount accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period
that the hedged item affects profit or loss. If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or
is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation is revoked, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in equity is reclassified in profit or loss.

The group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate
risk, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate caps and swaps and foreign currency options. Further details of
derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than
12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or
current liabilities.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated on either standard cost or weighted average cost, depending on the circumstances of the subsidiary, and where
applicable includes those costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are
subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units).
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1 General information and accounting policies – continued

Taxation
The tax currently payable or receivable is based on taxable profit or loss for the period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation is provided in full on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, if the deferred taxation arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred taxation is calculated using tax rates that are expected to apply when the
related deferred taxation asset is realised or the deferred taxation liability is settled.

Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

Leases

Finance leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the anticipated useful life of the asset and its lease term.

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant proportion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease. Incentives from lessors are recognised as a systematic reduction of the charge over the lease term.

Retirement benefit costs
The group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount
of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of
service and compensation. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into an
independently administered fund. The group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The cost of
providing these benefits, recognised in the income statement, comprises the amount of contributions payable to the schemes in
respect of the year.

For defined benefit retirement plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit method, with
actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date.

2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, management has made the following
judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Revenue recognition – judgement is applied in determining when the risks and rewards of ownership of goods have passed and
therefore when the revenue should be recognised.

Treatment of leases – judgement is applied to assess whether the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset have transferred
to determine whether a lease is accounted for as a finance lease or an operating lease.
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2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty – continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

Goodwill and intangible assets (notes 14 and 15) – the group has significant investments in both goodwill and intangible assets as a
result of acquisitions of businesses and purchases of such assets. Goodwill and certain intangible assets are held at cost and tested
annually for impairment. Tests for impairment are based on discounted cash flow projections, which require an estimate of both future
operating cash flows and an appropriate discount rate. Such estimates are inherently subjective.

Inventories (note 17) – inventories are recognised on the balance sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is based on the estimated selling price. Estimated selling prices are based on historical and current trends and are inherently
subjective.

Trade receivables (note 18) – trade receivables are recognised on the balance sheet at original invoice amount less provision for
impairment. Provisions for impairment are established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all
amounts due and are based on anticipated collection rates at each year-end. These collection rates are estimated based on historical
and current trends and are inherently subjective.

Provisions (note 23) – the group makes provisions in respect of onerous leasehold property contracts and leasehold dilapidation
commitments where it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle a present obligation. Such estimates
are inherently subjective and are made using third party advice and the best information available at the balance sheet date.

Retirement benefits (note 33) – within the UK, the group operates a number of approved defined benefit schemes. The pension
costs relating to the retirement plans are accounted for under IAS 19 “Employee benefits” with the cost of providing retirement
benefits determined using the Projected Unit Credit method, and actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date.
Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions, including discount rates, expected returns on plan assets, compensation increases
and mortality rates. These actuarial assumptions are reviewed annually and modified as appropriate in accordance with the advice of
independent qualified actuaries.

3 Subsidiaries
The principal subsidiary undertakings at 29 March 2013 were as follows:

Registered in England and Wales

Express Gifts Limited Retailer

Kitbag Limited Retailer

Kleeneze Limited Retailer

Findel Education Limited Retailer

Nottingham Rehab Limited Provision of healthcare products and services

Registered in Hong Kong

Fine Art Developments (Far East) Limited Procurement Services

All subsidiary undertakings are wholly owned directly by Findel plc and operate mainly in the country in which they are registered.

A full list of subsidiaries can be found in the company’s Annual Return.

4 Trading costs
An analysis of the group’s trading costs is as follows:

2013 2012
Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operation Total operations operation Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Selling and distribution costs:
– Before exceptional items 132,494 4,273 136,767 130,556 3,709 134,265
– Exceptional items — — — 1,732 — 1,732
Administrative expenses:
– Before exceptional items 81,818 9,462 91,280 77,965 8,489 86,454
– Exceptional items 11,031 163 11,194 14,562 174 14,736

225,343 13,898 239,241 224,815 12,372 237,187
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5 Segmental analysis
Operating segments
The board has considered the information that is presented to them on each of the trading divisions. In view of this, information
on reporting segments has been amended accordingly. For management purposes, until the disposal of the Healthcare division
on 19 April 2013 the group was organised into six operating segments:

� Express Gifts – direct mail order businesses in the UK, offering online and via catalogue a broad range of home and leisure
items, clothing, toys and gifts supported by a flexible credit offer;

� Kleeneze – marketing company, specialising in supplying household and health & beauty products to customers through a network
of independent distributors across the UK and the Republic of Ireland;

� Kitbag – retailer of sports leisurewear and official football kits both through its own online operation, kitbag.com, as well as a
number of partnership relationships with football clubs and other sports organisations whereby Kitbag manages a range of retail,
online and/or mail order channels;

� Education Supplies – supplier of resources and equipment (excluding information technology and publishing) to schools and
educational establishments in the UK;

� Healthcare – operator of outsourced Integrated Community Equipment Services (“ICES”) contracts for NHS trusts and local
authorities, and supplier of rehabilitation and care equipment to the public and private sectors via catalogue and the internet;

� Overseas Sourcing – sourcing office based in Hong Kong supplying importing services to various group companies and a small
number of external customers.

Segment information about these operating segments is presented below.

Inter segmental trading and profitability is not included in the information provided to the CODM and consequently is not disclosed
below. Revenue for each reportable segment reflects sales to external customers only. Reportable segmental profits are adjusted
for inter segment profits and as such are stated using costs to the group.

2013
Revenue

Home Shopping

Express Education Overseas
Gifts Kleeneze Kitbag Supplies Healthcare Sourcing Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sales of goods 183,568 47,272 70,376 103,225 70,399 5,474 480,314
Rendering of services 26,826 1,815 — — 18,964 — 47,605
Interest 52,585 106 — — — — 52,691

Reportable segment revenue 262,979 49,193 70,376 103,225 89,363 5,474 580,610

2012
Revenue

Home Shopping

Express Education Overseas
Gifts Kleeneze Kitbag Supplies Healthcare Sourcing Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Sale of goods 155,359 52,629 60,660 108,339 57,845 6,467 441,299
Rendering of services 29,046 995 — — 18,941 — 48,982
Interest 47,449 97 — — — — 47,546

Reportable segment revenue 231,854 53,721 60,660 108,339 76,786 6,467 537,827
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5 Segmental analysis – continued

2013
Profit after tax

Home Shopping

Express Education Overseas
Gifts Kleeneze Kitbag Supplies Healthcare Sourcing Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Reportable segment results 21,823 1,990 (1,693) 915 2,612 42 25,689

Unallocated costs (637)

Total group operating profit 25,052
Exceptional items (note 6) (11,194)
Finance income 6,097
Finance costs (15,887)

Profit/(loss) before tax 4,068
Tax (285)

Profit/(loss) after tax 3,783

2012
Loss after tax

Home Shopping

Express Education Overseas
Gifts Kleeneze Kitbag Supplies Healthcare Sourcing Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Reportable segment results 18,823 3,227 (4,212) 839 2,217 16 20,910

Exceptional items (note 6) (19,457)
Finance income 6,112
Finance costs (19,713)

Profit/(loss) before tax (12,148)
Tax 7,311

Profit/(loss) after tax (4,837)

2013
Other information

Home Shopping

Express Education Overseas
Gifts Kleeneze Kitbag Supplies Healthcare Sourcing Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital additions 4,696 145 1,767 1,050 540 60 8,258
Depreciation and
amortisation 3,704 96 1,580 3,436 1,488 15 10,319
Impairment losses — — 345 288 — — 633

Balance Sheet
Assets
Segment assets 234,095 16,607 29,586 101,316 20,448 911 402,963

Unallocated corporate assets 64,892

Consolidated total assets 467,855

Liabilities
Segment liabilities (135,403) (4,315) (45,094) (20,120) (6,746) (1,231) (212,909)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (154,475)

Consolidated total liabilities (367,384)

Unallocated corporate assets and liabilities principally comprise cash and bank borrowings, current tax provisions and deferred
tax assets.
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5 Segmental analysis – continued

2012
Other information

Home Shopping

Express Education Overseas
Gifts Kleeneze Kitbag Supplies Healthcare Sourcing Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital additions 2,604 5 2,772 971 558 — 6,910
Depreciation and
amortisation 3,774 132 1,312 3,160 1,580 14 9,972
Impairment losses — — — 8,400 — — 8,400

Balance Sheet
Assets
Segment assets 216,806 17,423 27,124 89,819 20,172 1,074 372,418

Unallocated corporate
assets 82,041

Consolidated total
assets 454,459

Liabilities
Segment liabilities (120,952) (4,502) (37,115) (17,571) (6,235) (1,146) (187,521)

Unallocated corporate
liabilities (162,801)

Consolidated total
liabilities (350,322)

Unallocated corporate assets and liabilities principally comprise cash and bank borrowings, current tax provisions and deferred
tax assets.

Geographical segments
The group’s operations are located in the United Kingdom and Hong Kong.

The following table provides an analysis of the group’s sales by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the goods/services.

2013 2012
£000 £000

United Kingdom 543,387 501,807
Europe 14,701 15,649
Asia 9,081 5,672
Other 13,441 14,699

580,610 537,827

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current assets analysed by geographical area in which the assets are
located.

2013 2012
£000 £000

United Kingdom 140,788 149,525
Hong Kong 51 —

140,839 149,525

Major customers
The group has no transactions with any single customer that amounts to more than 10% of the group’s total revenue in either
the period ended 29 March 2013 or the period ended 30 March 2012.
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6 Exceptional items
The following is an analysis of the exceptional items arising during the period.

2013 2012
£000 £000

Exceptional cost of sales — 2,991

Exceptional trading costs
Other exceptional items:
– Restructuring costs 3,812 7,409
– Loss making contracts 1,311 —
– Warehouse reorganisation costs — 365
– Onerous lease provisions 1,108 118
– Impairment of goodwill — 8,400
– PPI redress 4,800 —

Exceptional financing costs
Debt refinancing costs 283 3,396

Discontinued operation
Restructuring costs 163 174

11,477 22,853

In the prior period cost of sales included costs associated with new divisional management’s turnaround plans such as dealing with
stock obsolescence.

Restructuring costs in the current period of £3,975,000 (2012: £7,583,000) of which £163,000 (2012: £174,000) related to
discontinued operation, relate to further management changes, redundancies and costs associated with remedying legacy poor
systems and controls.

Costs of £1,311,000 have been incurred in relation to contracts that have become loss making. The costs were unavoidable and
include impairment of property plant and equipment related to the contracts in question.

Total costs of £4,800,000 (2012: £nil) have been incurred in relation to PPI redress in the period.

The prior year impairment of £8,400,000 related to a write down of goodwill allocated to the Education Supplies CGU. Impairment of
goodwill is discussed further in note 14.

The group incurred exceptional finance costs of £283,000 (2012: £3,396,000) in the period in respect of fees and other costs
associated with amendments to its credit facilities in March 2011. This includes £147,000 of costs in relation to the group's
derivative financial instruments taken out as part of the refinancing.

7 Discontinued operations
On 19 March 2013, the board announced it had entered into a conditional agreement with Pimco 2927 Limited to dispose of its
Healthcare division through the sale of Nottingham Rehab Limited ("NRS"). The gross consideration payable upon completion was
£24.0m, comprised of a cash payment of £22.6m to Findel Plc and a payment of £1.4m into an escrow account to satisfy the
estimated value of NRS' debt to the Findel Group Pension Fund. An adjustment to the cash element will be made once that debt
has been finalised.

Whilst NRS operates in a growing market with both favourable demographics and an increasing outsourcing opportunity through the
transfer of service provision from the public to the private sector, there were few synergies between NRS and the rest of the group,
and consequently the board believes that Findel's cash resources were better employed in developing the remainder of the group
and that NRS' interests were best served under a new owner.

At 29 March 2013 completion of the deal was conditional upon shareholder approval and NRS was classified as a disposal group
held for sale. Shareholder approval was obtained on 8 April 2013 and consequently the deal was completed on 19 April 2013.

A gain on disposal of £331,000 will be recognised within discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement for the
period ended 28 March 2014.

An assessment has been made as to recoverable amount for the assets of NRS that have been classified as held for sale using fair
value less costs to sell. As a result of this review, no impairment was identified.
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7 Discontinued operations – continued

The results for NRS for 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Revenue 89,363 76,786
Expenses* (86,914) (74,730)

Operating profit 2,449 2,056
Finance revenue — —
Finance expense — —

Profit before taxation from discontinued operations 2,449 2,056

Tax expense (1,144) (837)

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 1,305 1,219

* Expenses includes £163,000 (2012: £174,000) of exceptional items.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of NRS as at 29 March 2013 were as follows (2012 figures are provided for comparison only):

2013 2012
£000 £000

Assets
Goodwill 2,308 2,308
Intangible assets 1,395 1,187
Property, plant and equipment 1,157 2,996
Deferred tax asset 1,427 1,544
Inventory 6,409 6,079
Trade and other receivables 10,780 10,206
Cash 6,058 4,709

Assets classified as held for sale 29,534 29,029

Liabilities
Trade and other payables 8,319 16,955

8,319 16,955

Net assets of disposal group 21,215 12,074

The above figures include goodwill, intangible assets, deferred tax, corporation tax liabilities and inter company liabilities which will
be settled on completion. These items will be reconciling items to the segmental analysis in note 5.

The net cash flows attributable to NRS are as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Operating cash flows (20,400) 4,499
Investing cash flows 1,119 976
Financing cash flow 20,629 (2,850)

Net cash inflow 1,348 2,625

The earnings per share from discontinued operations has been disclosed in note 13 of the consolidated financial statements.

8 Finance income
2013 2012
£000 £000

Interest on bank deposits 117 32
Expected return on pension assets (note 33) 5,980 6,080

6,097 6,112
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9 Finance expense
2013 2012
£000 £000

Interest on bank loans 10,054 10,507
Exceptional debt refinancing costs 136 3,396
Interest on pension obligations (note 33) 5,550 5,810
Fair value movements on derivative financial instruments 147 —

15,887 19,713

10 Current taxation
(a) Tax charged in the income statement

2013 2012
£000 £000

Current tax expense:
Current period (overseas tax) 31 100
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (UK tax) (99) (4,855)

(68) (4,755)

Deferred tax expense:
Origination and reversal of timing differences (48) (2,883)
Effect of tax rate change on opening balance 401 327

353 (2,556)

Tax expense in the income statement 285 (7,311)

The tax expense/(credit) in the income statement is disclosed as follows:
Tax credit on continuing operations (859) (8,148)
Tax expense on discontinued operation 1,144 837

285 (7,311)

The group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors,
including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.

(b) Tax recognised directly in Equity
2013 2012
£000 £000

Deferred tax:
Tax on defined benefit pension plans (778) (2,810)

(c) Reconciliation of the total tax charge
The tax expense in the income statement for the period is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 24%
(2012: 26%).

The differences are reconciled below:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations before tax 1,619 (14,204)
Profit from discontinued operation before tax 2,449 2,056

4,068 (12,148)

Tax calculated at standard corporation tax rate of 24% (2012: 26%) 976 (3,158)

Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 831 737
Lower tax rates on overseas earnings 10 (52)
Movements on deferred tax assets — (508)
Recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax (2,255) —
Impact of rate in change of corporation tax 404 525
Adjustments in respect of prior periods - current tax 319 (4,855)

Total tax charge for the period 285 (7,311)
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11 Profit/(loss) for the period
2013 2012

Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operation Total operations operation Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Stated after (charging)/crediting:
Cost of inventories recognised as expense (249,395) (5,256) (254,651) (314,419) (5,091) (319,510)
Impairment charge for inventories (note 17) (5,830) (652) (6,482) (5,634) — (5,634)
Amounts arising on derivatives trading
not in a designated hedge accounting relationship 147 — 147 (123) — (123)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– owned (5,181) (1,460) (6,641) (6,173) (1,542) (7,715)
Operating lease rentals for property, plant and equipment (10,657) (1,237) (11,894) (10,078) (1,125) (11,203)
Amortisation of intangible assets (2,651) (1,027) (3,678) (1,294) (963) (2,257)
Impairment of goodwill — — — (8,400) — (8,400)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (633) — (633) — — —
Profit/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 37 (1) 36 228 (16) 212
Impairment charge for receivables (note 18) (31,378) (28) (31,406) (29,518) 9 (29,509)
Staff costs (note 12) (59,187) (12,134) (71,321) (52,370) (10,634) (63,004)

Continuing and discontinued operations
Auditors’ remuneration

The analysis of auditors’ remuneration is as follows:
2013 2012
£000 £000

Audit of these financial statements 100 100
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries of the company 317 317

Total audit fees 417 417

Non-audit services:
Corporate tax 319 232
Other 32 —

Fees relating to NRS disposal:
Accountants’ report for circular 314 —
Taxation 65 —

379 —

Total non-audit fees 730 232

12 Staff costs and directors’ emoluments
(a) Staff costs relating to continuing and discontinued operations
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was as follows:

2013 2012
No. No.

Administration 1,311 1,211
Production 141 117
Selling and distribution 1,353 1,283

2,805 2,611

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2013 2012
£000 £000

Wages and salaries 62,097 54,364
Social security costs 5,327 4,989
Other pension costs 3,897 3,651

71,321 63,004

(b) Directors’ emoluments
Details of directors’ emoluments can be found in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 28 to 39.
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13 Earnings/(loss) per share
From continuing operations

2013 2012
£000 £000

Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,478 (6,056)

Other exceptional items (net of tax) (8,415) (18,709)
Exceptional finance costs (net of tax) (283) (3,396)

Net profit attributable to equity holders for the purpose of adjusted earnings per share 11,176 16,049

Weighted average number of shares – basic 1,696,148,450 1,696,148,450

Earnings per share – basic 0.15 (0.36)

Earnings per share – adjusted* basic 0.66 0.95

* Adjusted to remove the impact of exceptional items.

From discontinued operation
2013 2012
£000 £000

Net profit attributable to equity holders for the purpose of basic earnings per share 1,305 1,219

Other exceptional items (net of tax) (163) (174)
Exceptional finance costs (net of tax) — —

Net profit attributable to equity holders for the purpose of adjusted earnings per share 1,468 1,393

Weighted average number of shares 1,696,148,450 1,696,148,450

Earnings per share – basic 0.08 0.07

Earnings per share – adjusted* basic 0.09 0.08

* Adjusted to remove the impact of exceptional items.
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13 Earnings/(loss) per share – continued

Total attributable to ordinary shareholders
2013 2012
£000 £000

Net profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders for the purpose of basic and
diluted earnings per share 3,783 (4,837)

Other exceptional items (net of tax) (8,578) (18,883)
Exceptional finance costs (net of tax) (283) (3,396)

Net profit attributable to equity holders for the purpose of adjusted earnings per share 12,644 17,442

Weighted average number of shares 1,696,148,450 1,696,148,450

Earnings per share – basic 0.23p (0.29)p

Earnings per share – adjusted* basic 0.75p 1.03p

* Adjusted to remove the impact of exceptional items.

Diluted earnings per share figures have not been disclosed for either period as there are no potentially dilutive options.

The earnings per share attributable to convertible ordinary shareholders is £nil.
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14 Goodwill
£000

Cost
At 1 April 2011 47,299

At 30 March 2012 47,299

Transfer to assets held for sale (2,308)

At 29 March 2013 44,991

Impairment
At 1 April 2011 —
Provision for period (8,400)

At 30 March 2012 (8,400)
Provision for period —

At 29 March 2013 (8,400)

Carrying amount
Attributable to continuing operations
Net book value at 29 March 2013 36,591

Net book value at 30 March 2012 38,899

Classified as assets held for sale
Net book value at 29 March 2013 (see note 7) 2,308

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that are expected to
benefit from that business combination. After recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated
as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Attributable to continuing operations
Express Gifts 320 320
Education Supplies 36,271 36,271
Healthcare — 2,308

36,591 38,899

The amount of goodwill that is tax deductible is £20.7m (2012: £20.7m).

The group tests annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the Express Gifts, Education Supplies, Kitbag and Kleeneze CGUs are determined from value in use
calculations. The recoverable amount of the Healthcare CGU has been determined from a fair value less costs to sell calculation
(refer to note 7 for details of NRS disposal).

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and management’s
detailed budgets including expected changes to revenues and direct costs during the period. The key assumptions are based on
past experience adjusted for expected changes in future conditions. Given the current economic climate, a sensitivity analysis has
been performed in assessing the recoverable amounts of goodwill.

The group has prepared cash flow forecasts for the next two to three years derived from the approved budget for FY14,
and a terminal value into perpetuity with a growth rate of 2.5% (2012: 2.5%). This rate does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant markets. The pre-tax rates used to discount the forecast cash flows are between 12.7% and 17.1%
(2012: 13.5% and 16.9%). These discount rates are derived from the group’s weighted average cost of capital as adjusted for the
specific risks related to each CGU.

As a result of the impairment review, no impairment charges were required.

In the case of the Education CGU, it is reasonably possible that a change in key assumptions would cause the total of intangible and
tangible assets to exceed its value in use as there is minimal headroom. Assuming a 17.1% pre-tax discount rate, a 0.5% increase
in the discount rate would lead to a £4.4m reduction in the carrying value. Similarly, a 5% reduction in the forecast operating profits
generated by the Education division would lead to a £4.3m reduction in the carrying value. In the prior period, an increase in the
pre-tax discount rate from 14.9% to 16.9% resulted in an impairment charge of £8.4m.

In the case of the Kleeneze CGU, it is also reasonably possible that a change in key assumptions would cause the total of intangible
and tangible assets to exceed its value in use as there is minimal headroom. Assuming a 16.4% pre-tax discount rate, a 0.5%
increase in the discount rate would lead to a £1.4m reduction in the carrying value. Similarly, a 5% reduction in the forecast
operating profits generated by the Kleeneze division would lead to a £1.3m reduction in the carrying value.
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15 Other intangible assets
Software and IT Customer

development costs Brand names relationships Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 April 2011 13,547 50,241 21,079 84,867
Additions 1,177 — — 1,177
Disposals (193) — — (193)

At 30 March 2012 14,531 50,241 21,079 85,851
Additions 1,905 — — 1,905
Disposals (288) — — (288)
Transfer from tangible assets 5,270 — — 5,270
Transfer to assets held for sale (5,944) (66) (589) (6,599)

At 29 March 2013 15,474 50,175 20,490 86,139

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 April 2011 8,758 — 9,581 18,339
Provision for period 1,297 — 960 2,257
Disposals (176) — — (176)

At 30 March 2012 9,879 — 10,541 20,420
Provision for period 2,718 — 960 3,678
Disposals (167) — — (167)
Transfer from tangible assets 3,110 — — 3,110
Transfer to assets held for sale (5,027) — (177) (5,204)

At 29 March 2013 10,513 — 11,324 21,838

Carrying amount
Attributable to continuing operations
Net book value at 29 March 2013 4,961 50,175 9,166 64,301

Net book value at 30 March 2012 4,652 50,241 10,538 65,431

Classified as assets held for sale
Net book value at 29 March 2013 (see note 7) 917 66 412 1,395

Brand names, which arise from the acquisition of businesses, are deemed to have an indefinite life, and therefore are subject to
annual impairment tests, on the basis that they are expected to be maintained indefinitely and are expected to continue to drive
value for the group.

The amortisation period for customer relationships, which arose from the acquisition of businesses, is between 2 and 20 years.

Brand names acquired in a business combination are allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that are expected
to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of brand names has been allocated as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Express Gifts 1,058 1,058
Kleeneze 22,845 22,845
Kitbag 6,170 6,170
Education Supplies 20,102 20,102
Healthcare — 66

50,175 50,241

The group tests annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that the brand names might be impaired.

These tests are conducted in conjunction with the testing on goodwill as described in note 14.
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16 Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings Plant and

Freehold Leasehold equipment Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 April 2011 20,398 2,924 54,931 78,253
Additions — 20 5,713 5,733
Disposals (49) (2) (1,869) (1,920)
Exchange differences 1 — — 1

At 30 March 2012 20,350 2,942 58,775 82,067
Additions 17 44 6,292 6,353
Disposals — — (292) (292)
Transfer to intangible assets — — (5,270) (5,270)
Exchange differences — 2 — 2
Transfer to assets held for sale (186) — (3,918) (4,104)

At 29 March 2013 20,181 2,988 55,587 78,756

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2011 6,913 1,642 32,051 40,606
Provision for period 417 175 7,123 7,715
Disposals (45) — (1,786) (1,831)
Exchange differences 1 — — 1

At 30 March 2012 7,286 1,817 37,388 46,491
Provision for the period 408 184 6,049 6,641
Disposals — — (281) (282)
Impairment 288 — 345 633
Transfer to intangible assets — — (3,110) (3,110)
Exchange differences — — — —
Transfer to assets held for sale (101) — (2,846) (2,947)

At 29 March 2013 7,881 2,001 37,545 47,427

Carrying amount
Attributable to continuing operations
Net book value at 29 March 2013 12,300 987 18,042 31,329

Net book value at 30 March 2012 13,064 1,125 21,387 35,576

Classified as assets held for sale
Net book value at 29 March 2013 (see note 7) 85 — 1,072 1,157

An impairment review has been completed during the year on the basis set out in note 14.

17 Inventories
2013 2012
£000 £000

Inventories at cost 63,992 68,600
Provision for impairment (5,096) (4,419)

58,896 64,181

2013 2012
£000 £000

Movement in the provision for impairment:
Balance at beginning of period 4,419 5,730
Transfer to assets held for sale (224) —
Provision made in the period 5,830 5,634
Provision utilised in the period (4,929) (6,945)

Balance at end of period 5,096 4,419
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18 Trade and other receivables
2013 2012
£000 £000

Amount receivable following the sale of goods* 279,381 267,668
Allowance for doubtful debts (86,553) (82,859)

Trade receivables 192,828 184,809
Other debtors 3,682 4,347
Prepayments 13,724 18,477

210,234 207,633

* Following a change in policy in the current year, to write off old overdue balances on the last day of the financial year (previously
the first day of the financial year) the prior year balances for gross receivables and provisions in Express Gifts have been restated
to reflect this change in policy by reducing gross receivables and the allowance for doubtful debts by £30,299,000. This change
has no impact on the level of net trade receivables disclosed previously.

Certain of the group’s trade receivables are funded through a securitisation facility arranged by HSBC Investment Bank plc and
funded through a vehicle owned by GRE Trust Company (Ireland) Limited. The facility is secured against those receivables and is
without recourse to any of the group’s other assets. The finance provider will seek repayment of the finance, as to both principal
and interest, only to the extent that collections from the receivables financed allows and the benefit of additional collections remains
with the group. At the period end, receivables of £150,648,078 (2012: £139,207,000) were funded through the securitisation facility,
and the facilities utilised were £105,000,000 (2012: £98,837,000).

Due to the different nature of debtors within the Express Gifts operating segment compared to that in the rest of the group, the
following analysis on trade receivables has been split between Express Gifts and the rest of the group.

Express Gifts
The average credit period analysis has been adjusted to reflect the change in policy noted above. The average credit period taken on
sales of goods is 302 days (2012 restated: 320 days, 2012 reported: 360 days). Interest is charged at 2.9% (2012: 2.6%) per month
on the outstanding balance. Trade receivables are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods,
determined by reference to past default experience.

Before accepting any new customer, the group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are continually reviewed. There are no
customers who represent more than 1% of the total balance of group trade receivables.

Included in the group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £43,110,000 (2012: £42,201,000) which are
past due at the reporting date which are partially provided against. There has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
net amounts are still considered recoverable. The group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these
receivables is 10 days (2012: 29 days)

Rest of group
The analysis of average credit period has been distorted by the transfer of balances included within NRS to assets held for sale.
Consequently the 2012 comparative figures have been restated to exclude NRS, in order to allow for a meaningful comparison.

The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 25 days (2012 restated: 31 days, 2012 reported 23 days). Trade receivables are
provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods, determined by reference to past default experience.

Given the nature of the public sector customer base within the Education Supplies business segment, it is not considered necessary
to utilise formal credit scoring. However, credit references are sought for all new customers prior to extending credit. There are no
customers who represent more than 1% of the total balance of group trade receivables.

Included in the group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £692,000 (2012: £548,000) which are past
due at the reporting date which are partially provided against. There has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
amounts are still considered recoverable. The group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these
receivables is 41 days (2012: 36 days).
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18 Trade and other receivables – continued

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

Express Rest of
Gifts group 2013
£000 £000 £000

Balance at the beginning of the period 80,256 2,603 82,859
Impairment losses recognised 30,332 1,046 31,378
Amounts written off as uncollectible (27,528) (156) (27,684)

Balance at end of period 83,060 3,493 86,553

Express Rest of
Gifts group 2012
£000 £000 £000

Balance at the beginning of the period 81,520 2,279 83,799
Impairment losses recognised 29,035 474 29,509
Amounts written off as uncollectible (30,299) (150) (30,449)

Balance at end of period 80,256 2,603 82,859

Express Gifts
The carrying value of not past due debtors which are unimpaired is £134,350,000 (2012: £121,326,000)

The ageing analysis of past due debtors which are impaired have carrying values as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

0 – 60 days 24,290 23,054
60 – 120 days 2,795 2,690
120+ days 16,025 16,457

Total 43,110 42,201

Rest of group
The carrying value of not past due debtors which are unimpaired is £14,675,000 (2012: £20,734,000)

The ageing analysis of past due debtors which are impaired have carrying values as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

0 – 60 days 33 10
60 – 120 days 4 14
120+ days 655 524

Total 692 548

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable
from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.

The directors consider that the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of the trade and other receivables and
that their carrying amount approximates their fair value.

The group uses a number of forbearance measures to assist those customers approaching, or at the point of experiencing, financial
difficulties. Such measures include arrangement to pay less than the minimum payment and the suspension of interest charges
to help the customer pay off their debt. We expect customers to resume normal payments where able. At the balance sheet date
forbearance measures were in place on 25,116 accounts (2012: 27,591) with total balances of £14,364,608 (2012: £15,700,000).
Where the group considers there is a risk of loss, provisions are assessed as detailed above.
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19 Cash and cash equivalents
2013 2012
£000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 27,965 33,099

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash held by the group, and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents excludes £6,058,000 of cash classified within assets held for sale (see note 7). The total group cash
position is therefore as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand:
– attributable to continued operations 27,965 33,099
– classified as held for sale 6,058 —

Total group 34,023 33,099

20 Trade and other payables
2013 2012
£000 £000

Trade payables 48,550 41,523
Other payables 4,546 5,038
Accruals 20,621 20,449

73,717 67,010

The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 58 days (2012 restated: 50 days, 2012 reported 43 days). No interest is
charged on trade payables. The group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the
credit timeframe.

The analysis of average credit period taken has been distorted by the transfer of balances included within NRS to liabilities held for
sale. Consequently the 2012 comparative figures have been restated to exclude NRS, in order to allow for a meaningful comparison.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their fair value.

www.findel.co.uk 73

Financial Statements
O
V
E
R
V
IE
W

1
—
5

B
U
S
IN
E
S
S
R
E
V
IE
W

6
—
1
9

G
O
V
E
R
N
A
N
C
E

2
0
—
4
5

F
IN
A
N
C
IA
L
S
T
A
T
E
M
E
N
T
S

4
6
—
9
4



21 Loans and borrowings
2013 2012
£000 £000

Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank loans 259,176 263,758

Amount due for settlement within one year — —
Amount due for settlement after one year 259,176 263,758

259,176 263,758

The average interest rates paid on the loans were as follows:
Bank loans 3.43% 3.73%

All borrowings are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the group to cash flow interest rate risk. The group manages this risk
by undertaking interest rate hedging as described in note 22.

All the bank loans are denominated in sterling.

The directors consider that the carrying value of bank loans approximates their fair value.

The group entered into agreements for the provision of new lending facilities on 11 February 2011, which were implemented
by way of amendment and restatement of the previous revolving credit facilities, and an amendment to the £105,000,000
securitisation facility.

The key commercial terms of these facilities are as follows:

� the facilities expire on 22 March 2016;

� the available amount under the two revolving credit facilities will vary between £196,742,000 and £131,742,000 in accordance
with the seasonal working capital requirements of the group’s business; and

� interest is charged at 3% over LIBOR for the two revolving credit facilities.

The group’s facilities will decrease by approximately £28m on 1 May 2013, following the sale of NRS (see note 7), in line with the
facility agreements.

The lenders and the trustees of the group’s defined benefit pension schemes hold fixed and floating charges over the majority of
the group’s assets.

The group incurred exceptional costs in the period of £136,000 (2012: £3,396,000) in respect of fees associated with amendments
to its credit facilities:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Borrowing facilities
The group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities as follows:
Expiring in one year or less — —
Expiring in more than two years but not more than five years 15,566* 35,984*

15,566 35,984

* Including securitisation facility

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

74 Findel plc Annual report and accounts 2013

Financial Statements



22 Derivative financial instruments
2013 2012

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£000 £000 £000 £000

Forward foreign exchange contracts — — — —
Interest rate cap — — 21 —

— — 21 —

Treasury and risk management
The group’s treasury function seeks to reduce or eliminate exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate and other financial risks,
to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets safely and profitably.

Interest rate risk management
The group’s interest rate exposure is managed by the use of fixed and floating rate borrowings, and by the use of derivative
arrangements.

Currency risk management
A proportion of the products sold through the group’s Home Shopping division and the Educational Supplies division are procured
through the group’s Far East buying office. The currency of purchase for these goods is principally the US Dollar, with a proportion
being in Hong Kong Dollars. The group has a policy of hedging these foreign currency denominated transactions by entering into
forward exchange purchase contracts.

Borrowing risk
The group’s exposure to borrowing and cash investment risk is managed by dealing only with banks and financial institutions with
strong credit ratings, within limits set for each organisation.

23 Provisions
Onerous PPI Onerous
leases redress contracts Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2011 5,211 — — 5,211
Provided in the period 531 — — 531
Utilised in the period (1,628) — — (1,628)
Reversal of unutilised amounts — — — —

At 30 March 2012 4,114 — — 4,114
Provided in the period 1,108 3,800 397 5,305
Utilised in the period (2,557) (431) — (2,988)
Reversal of unutilised amounts — — — —

At 29 March 2013 2,665 3,369 397 6,431

2013
Analysed as:
Current 1,308 3,369 228 4,905
Non-current 1,357 — 169 1,526

2,665 3,369 397 6,431

2012
Analysed as:
Current 1,571 — — 1,571
Non-current 2,543 — — 2,543

4,114 — — 4,114

Onerous leases
Provision was made in the current and prior periods for onerous leases for vacated leasehold properties. These provisions will be
utilised over approximately three years.

PPI redress
In the current year a provision has been made in respect of redress for mis-sold Payment Protection Insurance (PPI). The provision
has been calculated based upon the results of a mailing of affected customers. The provision is expected to be utilised over
approximately three years.

Onerous contracts
In the current year a provision was made in respect of costs to be incurred in respect of contracts that have become loss-making.
The provision was calculated based on assessment of the cash flows over the life of the contracts. The costs are expected to be
incurred over the next five years.
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24 Deferred tax
Recognised deferred tax

Short-term Accelerated Retirement Other
timing capital benefit Tax intangible

differences allowances obligations losses assets Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2011 — (6,695) (1,234) (7,063) 10,740 (4,252)
Impact of change in rate of corporation tax — 515 95 543 (826) 327
Recognised in other comprehensive income* — — (2,810) — — (2,810)
(Credit)/charge for the period (842) 624 1,722 (4,243) (145) (2,884)

At 30 March 2012 (842) (5,556) (2,227) (10,763) 9,769 (9,619)
Impact of change in rate of corporation tax 35 232 93 448 (407) 401
Recognised in other comprehensive income* — — (778) — — (778)
(Credit)/charge for the period (306) (2,151) 145 1,937 327 (48)
Transferred to assets held for sale (note 7) — 901 — — 525 1,426

At 29 March 2013 (1,113) (6,574) (2,767) (8,378) 10,214 (8,618)

* relates to actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit pension plans where deferred tax has been recognised.

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the group’s accounting policies.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (before offset) for balance sheet purposes:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities 10,214 9,770
Deferred tax assets (18,832) (19,389)

(8,618) (9,619)

The 2012 Budget on 21 March 2012 announced that the UK corporation tax rate will reduce to 22% by 2014 and the December
2012 Autumn Statement announced a planned further reduction to 21% by 2014. A reduction in the rate from 26% to 25%
(effective from 1 April 2012) was substantively enacted on 5 July 2011, and further reduction to 24% (effective from 1 April 2012)
and 23% (effective from 1 April 2013) were substantively enacted on 26 March 2012 and 3 July 2012 respectively.

The March 2013 Budget announced that the rate will further reduce to 20% by 2015 in addition to the planned reduction to 21% by
2014 previously announced in the December 2012 Autumn Statement. It has not yet been possible to quantify the full anticipated
effect of the announced further 3% rate reduction, although this will further reduce the company’s future current tax charge and
reduce the company’s deferred tax asset accordingly.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is based on management’s assumptions that it is probable that the entities will have taxable
profits against which the unused tax losses and deductible temporary timing differences can be utilised. Generally, in determining
the amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised, management uses profitability information and forecasted operating results
based on approved business plans.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with deferred tax assets which have not been recognised is £8,529,000
(2012: £14,717,000). These amounts primarily relate to carried forward tax losses. No asset has been recognised in respect of these
differences because there is insufficient evidence that the relevant subsidiaries will make suitable future taxable profits against
which these assets may be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax assets not recognised by the group and movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting period:

Short-term Accelerated Retirement Other
timing capital benefit Tax intangible

differences allowances obligations losses assets Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2011 (1,326) (801) — (17,556) — (19,683)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 420 (8) — 2,898 (119) 3,191
Impact of change in rate of corporation tax 70 62 — 1,127 9 1,268
Movements during the period — — — 507 — 507

At 30 March 2012 (836) (747) — (13,024) (110) (14,717)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 186 (2,428) (887) 8,442 340 5,653
Impact of change in rate of corporation tax 27 132 37 191 (10) 377
Movements during the period (109) 2,956 (924) (1,545) (220) 158

At 29 March 2013 (732) (87) (1,774) (5,936) — (8,529)
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25 Share-based payments

Performance Share Plan (equity settled)
The group issued to certain senior employees conditional awards of performance shares under a Performance Share Plan (PSP) that
require the group to award shares to the employee on the vesting of the award subject to the achievement of certain predetermined
performance conditions. The performance period is three years after which the awards may vest.

All numbers shown in this note are stated prior to the effects of the twenty for one share consolidation.

The performance conditions that apply to the awards granted since November 2010 have been based upon the achievement of
absolute share price targets to be measured in March 2014. No awards will vest if the weighted average share price in the three
months to March 2014 is below 13.5p. 30% will vest at 13.5p, 65% at 18.0p and 100% at 22.0p with straight-line vesting between
these performance points. In addition, vesting will only occur to the extent that the Remuneration Committee is satisfied that the
share price performance reflects the underlying performance of the group, and that adjusted earnings per share for the year ended
31 March 2014 is at least 0.87p per share.

For awards granted in November 2008, awards would have vested in full dependent on the achievement of a debt reduction of not
less than £100.0m over the three years of the performance period whilst maintaining a return on capital of not less than 17% in the
final year. These awards lapsed during the prior period as the performance conditions were not met.

For awards granted in November 2008, awards will vest in full dependent on the achievement of a debt reduction of not less than
£100.0m over the three years of the performance period whilst maintaining a return on capital of not less than 17% in the final year.
These awards have lapsed during the period as the performance conditions have not been met.

2013 2012
No. of shares No. of shares

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 97,475,015 93,409,586
Granted during the period 51,768,195 13,481,003
Lapsed during the period (15,181,795) (9,415,574)

Number of 5p ordinary shares 134,061,415 97,475,015

Impact of share consolidation post period end (127,358,344) (92,601,264)

Number of 100p ordinary shares 6,703,071 4,873,751

The estimated fair value of the awards granted during the period is £731,000 (2012: £580,000). In each case these costs are
expensed over three years.

The fair values of the awards in the current period and prior year were calculated using a Stochastic Valuation (aka “Monte-Carlo”)
model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

2013 2012

Weighted average share price (pence) 3.5 6.7
Weighted average exercise price (pence) — —
Expected volatility (%) (applicable to share price performance condition) 93.0 109.4
Expected volatility (%) (applicable to TSR performance condition) N/A N/A
Expected life (years) 3.0 3.0
Risk free rate (%) (applicable to share price performance condition) 0.3 0.8
Risk free rate (%) (applicable to TSR performance condition) N/A N/A
Expected dividend yield (%) — —
Weighted average fair value (pence) (applicable to share price performance condition) 1.4 4.3
Weighted average fair value (pence) (applicable to TSR performance condition) N/A N/A
Weighted average fair value (pence) (applicable to EPS performance condition) N/A N/A

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the group’s share price over the previous three years.

The group recognised a charge of £1,847,000 (2012: £1,502,000) related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions in the
year reflecting the charge arising in the period being offset by the reversal of charges on non-market related performance criteria
share options which are no longer expected to vest.

Share warrants (equity settled)
Share warrants for 4,256,503 ordinary shares with an exercise price of 20p per share were issued to the group’s lenders in
connection with the placing and open offer and firm placing in the period to 1 April 2011. The warrants may be exercised at any time
in the three years, 11 August 2010 to 11 August 2013. The fair value of each share warrant at the time of issue was 20p amounting
to £851,000 in total. At 29 March 2013, 4,256,503 (2012: 4,256,503) share warrants were outstanding.

Following the rights issue and placing in March 2011, the exercise price was adjusted to 13.60p.
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26 Share capital
The company has two classes of ordinary shares, neither of which carry any right to fixed income.

Ordinary shares of 5p each
2013 2012

Number Number 2013 2012
of shares of shares £000 £000

Allotted, issued and fully paid 1,718,850,664 1,718,850,664 85,942 85,942

Convertible ordinary shares of 23.97p each
2013 2012

Number Number 2013 2012
of shares of shares £000 £000

Allotted, issued and fully paid 166,878,704 166,878,704 40,000 40,000

The following rights are attached to convertible shares:

� The shares may be converted into 166,878,704 ordinary shares at the option of the holders of the convertible share in the event
that: (i) the company’s volume weighted average ordinary share price rises above 23.97p for a period of one month during the
period commencing on 22 March 2013 and ending on 22 March 2021; (ii) an offer is made for the company (regardless of the
share performance of the company).

� The holders of the shares are entitled to attend but not vote at the general meetings (save in respect of any resolution relating to
the convertible shares).

� The shares may participate in dividends or other distributions declared in excess of 50% of the net income in a particular
accounting reference period. (The board does not expect to pay a dividend in the foreseeable future as it is unable to pay
a dividend whilst the new lending facility is in place.)

� The shares are freely transferable and the terms may be varied only with the approval of 85% of the convertible shareholders.

If the shares have not been converted by 22 March 2021 they will automatically convert into non-voting deferred shares. The
company will have the right to buy back such deferred shares for a nominal value at the time.

Share consolidation
On 9 April 2013, following approval from shareholders, a twenty-for-one share consolidation was completed. The share consolidation
was based on every 20 existing ordinary shares being consolidated into one new ordinary share, with the fractional entitlements
arising from the share consolidation being aggregated and sold in the market on behalf of the relevant shareholders and donated to
charity.

Following the share consolidation, shareholders will still hold the same proportion of the company’s ordinary share capital as before
the share consolidation (save in respect of fractional entitlements). Other than a change in nominal value the shares carry equivalent
rights under the Articles of Association to the existing ordinary shares.

The effect of the share consolidation upon the share capital of the company is as follows:

Ordinary shares of 100p each
2013

Number of shares £000

85,942,533 85,942

Convertible ordinary shares of 479.4p each
2013

Number of shares £000

8,343,935 40,000
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27 Capital reserves
2013 2012
£000 £000

Share premium 93,454 93,454
Capital redemption reserve 403 403

93,857 93,857

The capital redemption reserve arose on the purchase and cancellation of 8,060,234 ordinary shares during the year ended
31 March 1999.

None of the above reserves are distributable.

28 Translation reserve
£000

Balance at 1 April 2011 556
Currency translation gain arising on consolidation 50

Balance at 30 March 2012 606
Currency translation gain arising on consolidation 150

Balance at 29 March 2013 756

29 Hedging reserve
£000

Balance at 1 April 2011 (86)
Fair value movements (252)
Amounts recycled to Income Statement 123

Balance at 30 March 2012 (215)
Amounts recycled to Income Statement 126

Balance at 29 March 2013 (89)

30 Retained earnings
£000

At 1 April 2011 (103,820)
Loss for the period (4,837)
Actuarial loss on defined benefit pension schemes (11,708)
Share-based payments 1,502
Tax relating to components of comprehensive income 2,810

At 30 March 2012 (116,053)
Profit for the period 3,783
Actuarial loss on defined benefit pension schemes (10,350)
Share-based payments 1,847
Tax relating to components of comprehensive income 778

At 29 March 2013 (119,995)

31 Capital commitments
At 29 March 2013, amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements in respect of property, plant and equipment
amounted to £2,759,000 (2012: £nil).
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32 Operating lease arrangements
At the balance sheet date, the group had total minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due
as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Within one year 12,141 11,197
In the second to fifth years 24,411 26,902
After five years 38,778 42,282

75,330 80,381

The above amounts include amounts provided for onerous leases in note 23.

33 Pensions
Defined contribution schemes
The group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan for all qualifying employees. The assets of the plan are held
separately from those of the group in funds under the control of trustees. The only obligation of the group with respect to the
retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions. The total expense recognised in the income statement of £3,897,000
(2012: £3,651,000) represents contributions payable at rates specified by the rules of the plan.

Defined benefit schemes
During the period the principal UK scheme (the “Findel Group Pension Fund”) was merged with the Findel Education Pension
Scheme (including the Philip and Tracey section) and the Galt Group Employees' Pension Scheme, becoming a single scheme with
four sections. The aim of the exercise was to reduce the administration costs of the schemes. The combined scheme is
administered by Barnett Waddingham LLP.

The Findel Group Pension Fund was assessed by Aon Hewitt, the scheme’s actuaries, at 6 April 2010 using the projected unit
method. The principal actuarial assumptions adopted in that valuation were that the annual rate of return on growth investments
would be 0.2% higher than the annual increase in total pensionable remuneration and the return on bond investments would be
between 1.6% and 2.4% higher than the annual increase in present and future pensions in payment. The actuarial value of the
assets was sufficient to cover 85% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected future increases in
pensionable remuneration. The market value of the scheme’s assets at the date of valuation was £68.3m. The next formal valuation
is due with an effective date no later than 6 April 2013.

The Findel Education Pension Scheme was assessed by Aon Hewitt, the scheme’s actuaries, at 6 April 2010. The principal actuarial
assumptions adopted in that valuation were that the annual rate of return on investments would be 1.8% higher than the assumed
price inflation assumption. The market value of the assets was sufficient to cover 70% of the benefits that had accrued to
members, after allowing for expected future increases in pensionable remuneration. The market value of the scheme’s assets at the
date of valuation was £19.8m. The next formal valuation is due with an effective date no later than 6 April 2013.

The most recent valuations of the plans for IAS 19 purposes were carried out at 29 March 2013 by Barnett Waddingham LLP. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related current service cost and past service cost, were measured using the
projected unit credit method.

Findel Group Pension Fund:
2013 2012
£000 £000

Fair value of scheme assets 110,689 101,390
Present value of funded obligations (130,430) (114,361)

Deficit in the scheme (19,741) (12,971)

Plan assets
2013 2012
£000 £000

Plan assets comprise:
Equities/Property 57,160 53,248
Bonds 46,829 40,380
Other 6,700 7,762

110,689 101,390

Actual return on plan assets* 11.5% 6%

* based on market conditions at the balance sheet date, reflecting the mix of assets held.
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33 Pensions – continued

Movement in the present value of defined benefit obligations:

2013 2012
£000 £000

At beginning of period (114,361) (102,995)
Current service cost — (158)
Interest cost (5,550) (5,810)
Contributions by the members — (24)
Actuarial gain/(loss) (15,680) (9,316)
Benefits paid 5,160 3,942

At end of period (130,431) (114,361)

Movement in the fair value plan assets:

2013 2012
£000 £000

At beginning of period 101,390 98,248
Contributions 3,150 3,372
Contributions by the members — 24
Expected return on pension assets 5,980 6,080
Actuarial gain/(loss) 5,330 (2,392)
Benefits paid (5,160) (3,942)

At end of period 110,690 101,390

Movement in the pension deficit:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Deficit at the beginning of the period (12,971) (4,747)
Interest cost (5,550) (5,810)
Expected return on pension assets 5,980 6,080
Actuarial gain/(loss) (10,350) (11,708)
Contributions 3,150 3,214

Deficit at the end of the period (19,741) (12,971)

Expense recognised in the consolidated income statement:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Included within financial income and expense
Expected return on plan assets 5,980 6,080
Interest cost (5,550) (5,810)

430 270

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Actuarial loss (10,350) (11,708)
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33 Pensions – continued

Actuarial Assumptions
The following are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:

2013 2012
% %

Discount rate for scheme liabilities 4.30 5.00
Expected return on scheme assets 5.50 6.50
RPI Price Inflation 2.30 2.30
CPI Price Inflation 3.30 3.30
Rate of increase to pensions in payment 3.50 3.50
Rate of increase to deferred pensions 2.80 3.00
Post retirement mortality (in years)
Current pensioners at 65 – male 87.1 86.9
Current pensioners at 65 – female 89.4 89.3
Future pensioners at 45 – male 88.5 88.1
Future pensioners at 45 – female 91.0 90.9

Assumptions regarding post retirement mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables (SAPS (SINA) tables with
CMI projections with a 1% pa long-term rate of improvement).

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities are set out below:

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 0.1% Decrease/increase by £2.5m
Inflation assumption Increase/decrease by 0.1% Decrease/increase by £1.0m
Post retirement mortality Increase by one year Increase by £3.5m

Historical information:
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fair value of plan assets 110,690 101,390 98,248 92,598 72,945
Present value of defined benefit obligation (130,431) (114,361) (102,995) (115,947) (88,912)

Deficit in the scheme (19,741) (12,971) (4,747) (23,349) (15,967)

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities (15,680) (9,316) 15,311 (30,757) 3,613
Percentage of scheme liabilities (%) (14%) (8%) 15% (27%) 4%

Experience adjustments arising on plan assets 5,330 (2,392) 511 14,314 (19,869)
Percentage of scheme assets (%) 5% (2%) 1% 15% (27%)

Impact of IAS 19 (Revised)
The IASB has recently finalised changes to the IAS 19 standard which will come into force for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013. The key changes and their impact upon the financial statements are as follows:

� The expense recognised in finance income and expense in the consolidated income statement which is currently the difference
between the interest on liabilities and the expected return on plan assets will be replaced by a “net interest cost”. In most
cases the expense recognised in the consolidated income statement will increase as the expected return on assets will
effectively be based on the discount rate (i.e. the returns available on AA-rated corporate bonds), with no allowance made for
any outperformance expected from the Scheme’s actual asset holding. It is expected that the impact of this change will be to
increase the charge in the consolidated income statement for the period ended 28 March 2014 by £1m.

� Deferral of actuarial gains and losses will no longer be permitted and the deficit (or surplus) should be recognised in full on the
balance sheet (subject to any restrictions imposed by IFRIC14). The company already fully recognises actuarial gains and losses
and so this change will not have a material impact upon the financial statements.

� An increased level of disclosure will be required about the risks posed by the Scheme.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

82 Findel plc Annual report and accounts 2013

Financial Statements



34 Financial instruments
The group holds and uses financial instruments to finance its operations and to manage its interest rate and liquidity risks. The group
primarily finances its operations using share capital and borrowings. The main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are
credit, interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risk.

The board reviews and agrees the policies for managing each of these risks on an annual basis. A full description of the group’s
approach to managing these risks is set out on pages 17 to 19.

The group does not engage in trading or speculative activities using derivative financial instruments. A group offset arrangement
exists for cash balances to take advantage of the most rewarding short-term investment opportunities.

Capital risk management
The group manages its capital to ensure that the group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the net debt and equity balance. The board of directors reviews the capital structure
of the group regularly considering both the costs and risks associated with each class of capital. The capital structure of the group
consists of:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Net debt
Borrowings (note 21) 259,176 263,758
Cash at bank and in hand (note 19) (27,965) (33,099)
Cash classified as assets held for sale (note 7) (6,058) —

225,153 230,659

Total equity
Share capital (note 26) 125,942 125,942
Capital reserves (note 27) 93,857 93,857
Translation reserve (note 28) 756 606
Hedging reserve (note 29) (89) (215)
Accumulated losses (note 30) (119,995) (116,053)

100,471 104,137

Gearing (being net debt divided by total equity) 2.24 2.21

Externally imposed capital requirement
The group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity
instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

2013 2013 2012 2012
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

value value value value
£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other receivables 196,510 196,510 189,156 189,156
and included within assets held for sale 5,417 5,417 — —

Cash and cash equivalents 27,965 27,965 33,099 33,099
Trade and other payables (53,096) (53,096) (46,561) (46,561)
and included within liabilities held for sale (3,468) (3,468) — —

Secured bank loans (259,176) (259,176) (263,758) (263,758)
Interest rate swaps — — 21 21

(85,848) (85,848) (88,043) (88,043)

Unrecognised gain/(loss) — —
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34 Financial Instruments – continued

Basis for determining fair values
The following summarises the principal methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair value of financial instruments reflected
in the table above:

(a) Derivatives
Broker quotes are used for all interest rate swaps, caps and foreign currency exchange contracts where relevant.

(b) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.

(c) Trade and other receivables/payables
For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect the fair value. All other
receivables/payables are discounted to determine the fair value.

The main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are credit, interest rate, foreign currency, and liquidity risk. The board
reviews and agrees the policies for managing each of these risks on an annual basis.

Fair value hierarchy
The different levels of valuation method for financial instruments carried at fair value have been defined as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices)

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The derivative financial instruments held by the group at 30 March 2012 and 29 March 2013, namely the interest rate caps, have
been valued under level 2 measurement bases.

Financial risk management objectives
The group’s financial risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow
interest rate risk.

The group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure. The use
of financial derivatives is governed by the group’s policies approved by the board of directors. The group does not enter into or trade
financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

Market risk
The group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.
The group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk,
including:

� forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the purchase of inventory principally in US dollars;
and

� interest rate caps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

Foreign currency risk management
The group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise.
Exchange rate exposures are managed utilising forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are
as follows:

Assets Liabilities Net exposure
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Euro 1,102 1,487 (2,561) (225) (1,459) 1,262
Hong Kong dollar 257 333 (202) (473) 55 (140)
US dollar 1,256 2,569 (980) (1,778) 276 791

2,615 4,389 (3,743) (2,476) (1,128) 1,913
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34 Financial Instruments – continued

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
A significant proportion of products sold through the group’s Home Shopping and Educational Supplies divisions are procured
through the group’s Far East buying office. The currency of purchase for these goods is principally the US dollar, with a proportion
being in Hong Kong dollars.

The following table details the group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Sterling against the relevant foreign
currencies. 10% represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for
a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within
the group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive
number below indicates an increase in profit and other equity where Sterling strengthens 10% against the relevant currency. For
a 10% weakening of Sterling against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other
equity, and the balances below would be negative.

Euro Hong Kong dollar US dollar
currency impact currency impact currency impact

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Profit or loss and equity 133 (115) (5) 13 (25) (72)

Forward foreign exchange contracts
The group enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the risk associated with anticipated sales and purchase
transactions out to approximately 12 months from the balance sheet date. However, as the group does not seek to apply hedge
accounting treatment to these contracts, and to mitigate against fair value movements being charged in the income statement, all
contracts are completed within the relevant accounting period such that there are no contracts outstanding at either 30 March 2012
or 29 March 2013.

No charges relating to changes in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivatives were credited to income in the period
(2012: £nil).

Interest rate risk management
The group is exposed to interest rate risk as the group borrows funds at floating interest rates. The risk is managed by the group by
the use of interest rate swap and cap contracts when considered necessary. Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with
interest rate views and defined risk appetite; ensuring hedging strategies are applied, by either positioning the balance sheet or
protecting interest expense through different interest rate cycles.

The group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-derivative
instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability
outstanding at balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the group’s profit and equity
reserves for the period ended 29 March 2013 would decrease/increase by £1,353,000 (2012: decrease/increase by £1,436,000).
This is mainly attributable to the group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.
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34 Financial Instruments – continued

Interest rate cap contracts
Under interest rate cap contracts, the group agrees to cap the LIBOR element of its interest cost at an agreed level calculated on
agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the group to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates on its variable rate debt.

The following two interest rate caps were transacted on 12 January 2011:

2013 2012
Maturity Notional Cap rate Market value Notional Cap rate Market value

£000 £000 £m £000

Less than 12 months 90,000 3.00% — 110,000 2.15% 1
1 to 2 years — — — 90,000 3.00% 20
2 to 3 years — — — — — —

90,000 — 200,000 21

These contracts were designated as cash flow hedges from inception in accordance with IAS 39. The movement in the fair value of
these instruments during the year was as follows:

2013 2012
£000 £000

Asset at 30 March 2012 21 1,207
Movement in fair value credited to the hedging reserve — (251)
Movement in fair value of ineffective element charged to income statement (21) (935)

Asset at 29 March 2013 — 21

Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the group. The
group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances
for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made when there is an identified loss event which, based on previous
experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows. A more detailed commentary of the group’s exposure
to credit risk within its trade receivables, and the procedures employed to manage this risk, is set out in note 18.

The group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar
characteristics. The group defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are connected entities. Concentration of
credit did not exceed 5% of gross monetary assets at any time during the year. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial
instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents the
directors’ best estimate of the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework for the management of the group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. The group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
Included in note 21 is a description of additional undrawn facilities that the group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.
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34 Financial Instruments – continued

Liquidity and interest risk tables
The following tables detail the group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial assets and financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the financial assets and financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the group can be required to pay. The table includes both estimated interest and principal cash flows.

2013
Weighted
average
effective Less than 1 to 5

interest rate 1 year years Total
% £000 £000 £000

Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing (53,096) — (53,096)
Variable interest rate instruments 3.43 (259,176) — (259,176)

(312,272) — (312,272)

Financial assets
Derivatives settled net

2012
Weighted
average
effective Less than 1 to 5

interest rate 1 year years Total
% £000 £000 £000

Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing — (64,391) — (64,391)
Finance lease liability — — — —
Variable interest rate instruments 3.73 (263,758) — (263,758)

(328,149) — (328,149)

Financial assets
Derivatives settled net — — —

The group has access to financing and securitisation facilities, the total unused amount of which is £15,566,000 (2012: £35,984,000)
at the balance sheet date. The group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows. Borrowings drawn under the
group’s revolving credit facilities are shown above as being repaid within one year. The group may then redraw these amounts until
the contractual maturity of the underlying facility which expires on 22 March 2016.

The group enters into derivative financial instruments relating to gross settled foreign exchange contracts, net settled interest rate
swaps and net settled interest rate caps. When the amount payable or receivable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the interest and foreign currency rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.
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35 Post balance sheet event

Sale of Nottingham Rehab Limited
The sale of Nottingham Rehab Limited ("NRS") was completed on 19 April 2013. Full details of the disposal have been included
within note 7 of the consolidated financial statements.

Share consolidation
On 9 April 2013, following approval from shareholders, a twenty-for-one share consolidation was completed. The share consolidation
was based on every 20 existing ordinary shares being consolidated into one new ordinary share, with the fractional entitlements
arising from the share consolidation being aggregated and sold in the market on behalf of the relevant shareholders and donated
to charity.

Following the share consolidation, shareholders will still hold the same proportion of the company’s ordinary share capital as before
the share consolidation (save in respect of fractional entitlements). Other than a change in nominal value the shares carry equivalent
rights under the Articles of Association to the existing ordinary shares.

36 Related parties
There were no related party transactions to be disclosed for the period to 29 March 2013 or to 30 March 2012.

Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the company, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not discussed in this note. All transactions and outstanding balances between the group companies are priced
on an arms-length basis and are to be settled in the ordinary course of business.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of the directors including consultancy contracts and share-based payments, who are the key management of the
group, is set out in the audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 36 to 39 and is summarised below.

2013 2012
£000 £000

Short-term employee benefits 2,072 1,579
Post-employment benefits 204 64

2,276 1,643
Share-based payments 846 916

3,122 2,559

37 Contingent liability

Extended warranty
The company’s largest subsidiary, Express Gifts, is regulated by the FCA as an insurance intermediary and as such is permitted to sell
insurance products. Following concerns raised by the underwriter of one of those products, an extended warranty product, Express
Gifts has commenced a review of its sales process to assess whether there were any deficiencies that could have resulted in that
product being mis-sold. Express Gifts’ sale of this particular product was not subject to the FCA’s rules and the level of complaints
received has remained extremely low. Nonetheless, at the current time, it is not possible to evaluate the extent of the mis-selling
(if any), nor the potential level of redress that might be required if any future proactive customer redress exercise was required.
Furthermore, it is not possible to quantify how much of such redress would be recoverable from the underwriter of the product.
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2013 2012
Notes £000 £000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 3 10,894 11,272
Investments 4 142,124 142,124

153,018 153,396

Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 5 160,402 158,345
Cash at bank and in hand 952 9,201

161,354 167,546
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (74,228) (68,615)

Net current assets 87,126 98,931

Total assets less current liabilities 240,144 252,327
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 7 (154,176) (164,921)
Provisions for liabilities 8 (1,188) —

Net assets 84,780 87,406

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 11 125,942 125,942
Capital redemption reserve 12 403 403
Share premium account 12 93,454 93,454
Profit and loss account 12 (135,019) (132,393)

Equity shareholders’ funds 13 84,780 87,406

Approved by the board and authorised for issue on 4 June 2013

R W J Siddle
Directors

T J Kowalski }
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1 Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting
The separate financial statements of the company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and law.

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the period and the
preceding year. The company has taken advantage of the allowed exemption from FRS 29 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.

Fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation, and any provision for impairment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off all tangible fixed assets on a straight-line basis, except for land, over their estimated useful
lives using the following rates:

Freehold buildings: 2%
Fixtures and equipment: 5% – 33%
Leased assets: Term of lease

Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost, less provision for impairment where appropriate.

Financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The company uses
derivative financial instruments (primarily forward foreign currency contracts and interest rate caps) to hedge its risks associated
with foreign currency transactions. The significant interest rate risk arises from bank loans. The company converts a proportion of its
floating rate debt to fixed rates, when appropriate. Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract
date, and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are
recognised directly in reserves and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the profit and loss account.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the profit and
loss account as they arise.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Where financial liabilities are extinguished by equity instruments issued the difference between the carrying value of the debt
extinguished and the fair value of the equity instrument issued is recorded in the profit and loss account.

Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered). Deferred tax is measured on a
non-discounted basis, at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing differences are expected
to reverse.

Both current and deferred tax are measured using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on a non-discounted basis in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in
the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised
only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
from which the future reversal of underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Share-based payments
The accounting policy for share-based payments is set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Where the company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsidiaries it recognises, in its individual financial
statements, an increase in the cost of investment in its subsidiaries equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge
recognised in its consolidated financial statements with the corresponding credit being recognised directly in equity. Amounts
recharged to the subsidiary, reimbursed by the subsidiary are recognised as a reduction in the cost of investment in subsidiary.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distributions to Findel plc shareholders are recognised in the financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved.
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1 Significant accounting policies – continued

Leases

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant proportion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease. Incentives from lessors are recognised as a systematic reduction of the charge over the periods benefiting from the
incentives.

Retirement benefit costs
For defined benefit schemes, the pension scheme assets are measured using fair values whilst the pension scheme liabilities are
measured using a projected unit method and discounted using an appropriate discount rate. The Findel Group Pension Scheme is a
defined benefit scheme. However, the company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme
on a consistent and reasonable basis and, consequently, has taken the exemption afforded by FRS 17 “Retirement benefits” to
treat the pension scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme.

For defined contribution schemes, the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of pension costs and other
post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the period. Differences between contributions payable in the period and
contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

Cash flow statement
The company has taken advantage of the exemption from the requirement of FRS 1 (“Cash flow statements”) to present a cash
flow statement, as it produces consolidated financial statements which are available to the public.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the gains
or losses on translation are included in the profit and loss account.

2 Loss for the year
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account for
the year. The company reported a loss for the financial period ended 29 March 2013 of £3,311,000 (2012: £9,377,000).

The auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the company was £100,000 (2012: £100,000).

3 Tangible fixed assets
Land and buildings Fixtures and

Freehold Leasehold equipment Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 30 March 2012 17,234 404 428 18,066
Additions — — 4 4
Disposals — — (232) (232)

At 29 March 2013 17,234 404 200 17,838

Accumulated depreciation
At 30 March 2012 6,235 213 346 6,794
Charge for the period 328 16 33 377
Disposals — — (227) (227)

At 29 March 2013 6,563 229 152 6,944

Carrying amount
Net book value at 29 March 2013 10,671 175 48 10,894

Net book value at 30 March 2012 10,999 191 82 11,272

Freehold land and buildings includes land costing £800,000 (2012: £800,000) on which no depreciation is charged.
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4 Investments
Shares in group

undertakings
£000

Cost
At 30 March 2012 203,491
Disposals —

At 29 March 2013 203,491

Provisions
At 30 March 2012 61,367
Disposals —

At 29 March 2013 61,367

Carrying amount
Net book value at 29 March 2013 142,124

Net book value at 30 March 2012 142,124

Principal subsidiary undertakings are listed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

5 Debtors
2013 2012
£000 £000

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 154,544 151,211
Trade debtors 4 223
Derivative asset (note 9) — 21
Other debtors 1,238 767
Corporation tax 3,356 5,276
Prepayments and accrued income 1,260 847

160,402 158,345

6 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2013 2012
£000 £000

Bank loans and overdrafts 4,081 —
Trade creditors 1,353 673
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 60,913 59,931
Other creditors 50 —
Accruals and deferred income 7,831 8,011

74,228 68,615

7 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
2013 2012
£000 £000

Bank loans 154,176 164,921

The maturity profile and interest rates relating to the bank loans are outlined in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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8 Provision for liabilities
Onerous
leases
£000

At 30 March 2012 —
Provided in the period 1,188

At 29 March 2013 1,188

Onerous leases
Provision was made in the current period for onerous leases for vacated leasehold properties. These provisions are expected to be
utilised over five years.

9 Derivatives
The group’s derivative financial instruments are all held by the company. Please refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements for the required disclosures.

10 Share-based payments
The company’s share of the total group cost of share-based payments during the year is £559,000 (2012: £1,502,000).

Please refer to note 25 to the consolidated financial statements for the required disclosures in respect of share-based payments.

11 Called-up share capital
Ordinary shares of 5p each

2013 2012 2013 2012
Number of shares Number of shares £000 £000

1,718,850,664 1,718,850,664 85,942 85,942

Convertible ordinary shares of 23.97p each
2013 2012 2013 2012

Number of shares Number of shares £000 £000

166,878,704 166,878,704 40,000 40,000

Details of movements in the company’s share capital and their principle terms are shown in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Please refer to note 26 of the consolidated financial statements for details of the share consolidation that took place after the
period end on 9 April 2013.

12 Reserves
Capital Share Profit

redemption premium and loss
reserve account account

£000 £000 £000

At 30 March 2012 403 93,454 (132,393)
Loss for the period — — (3,311)
Share-based payments — — 559
Cash flow hedges — — 126

403 93,454 (135,019)
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13 Reconciliation of movements in equity shareholders’ funds
2013 2012
£000 £000

Loss for the financial period (3,311) (9,377)
Share-based payments 559 1,502
Cash flow hedge 126 (129)

Net reduction in equity shareholders’ funds (2,626) (8,004)

Opening equity shareholders’ funds 87,406 95,410

Closing equity shareholders’ funds 84,780 87,406

14 Financial commitments
The company had no capital commitments at 29 March 2013 or 30 March 2012.

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Land and buildings Other assets
2013 2012 2013 2012
£000 £000 £000 £000

Expiry date:
Within one year — — — —
In the second to fifth years 1,084 — 2,032 1,770
After five years 3,340 4,424 — —

4,424 4,424 2,032 1,770

Leases of land and buildings are typically subject to rent reviews at specified intervals and provide for the lessee to pay all
insurance, maintenance and repair costs.

15 Retirement benefits
The company’s employees participate in the Findel Group Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme with the assets held
in separate trustee administered funds.

As the company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the scheme on a consistent and reasonable
basis, it has taken advantage of the exemption afforded by FRS 17 (“Retirement benefits”) to treat the pension scheme as if it were
a defined contribution scheme.

The disclosures required regarding the assets and liabilities of the scheme can be found in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The pensions charge for the year to the profit and loss account, which represents contributions paid by the company to the fund and
accrued contributions, amounted to £2,271,600 (2012: £2,285,900).

16 Related party transactions
The company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 8 “Related party disclosures” not to disclose transactions with other
members of the group headed by the company.

There were no related party transactions to be disclosed for the period to 29 March 2013.

17 Contingent liability
The company has issued guarantees of financial support to all its trading subsidiaries from 4 June 2013.

The company has a contingent liability for guarantees given in respect of securitisation borrowing facility of its subsidiary, Express
Gifts, to a maximum of £105.0m (FY12: £105.0m). At 29 March 2013, the borrowings in respect of these guarantees amounted to
£105.0m (FY12: £98.7m). No loss is expected to arise. These guarantees are defined as financial guarantees under IAS 39 and their
fair value at 29 March 2013 was £nil (FY12: £nil).

18 Post balance sheet event
Sale of Nottingham Rehab Limited
The sale of Nottingham Rehab Limited (“NRS”) was completed on 19 April 2013. Disposal proceeds are included in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements. The sale proceeds exceed the carrying value of the investment and therefore no impairment is
required.

The profit on disposal will be included in the profit and loss account for the period ended 28 March 2014.

Share consolidation
On 9 April 2013, following approval from shareholders, a twenty-for-one share consolidation was completed. Full details are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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